THE EFFECTS OF EMPOWERMENT MESSAGING ON ACTION RESPONSES TO CLIMATE CHANGE

A THESIS

SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS

FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF ARTS

IN THE GRADUATE SCHOOL OF

TEXAS WOMAN'S UNIVERSITY

SCHOOL OF SOCIAL WORK, PSYCHOLOGY, AND PHILOSOPHY COLLEGE OF ARTS AND SCIENCES

BY

JAMIE CAMPOS, B.S.

DENTON, TEXAS

DECEMBER, 2023

Copyright © 2023 by Jamie Campos, B.S.

DEDICATION

I would like to dedicate this work of research to my respected friends and mentors David Castillo, Asis Cortes and the Casa Cortes family, Salvador Rosales Torres, Emilio Vieyra Vargas, Carlos Camarena, Tomás Estes, Guillermo Sauza, David Suro, Romulo Sanchez Parada, Aquilíno Garcia Lopez, Tío Rey, Graciela Ángeles Carreño, Rodrigo Medellín and so many more who have shared with me the miracle of mezcal and agave spirits. I would also like to dedicate this thesis to several loved ones. I would like to dedicate this work to my best friend Taylor Amador who has been an enormously cherished friend since childhood. We have seen so many ups and downs in each other's lives, and you have always been my family. I am so excited to see what is in our future! I would like to dedicate this to my partner Rozz who gave loving encouragement and praise throughout the research process. Thank you for all of your relentless love and kindness, for being the coolest person I know, and being always down for anything. I love you to the moon! I want to thank my uncle Gary Campos who has given me the unconditional love I have always been worth. I love you bunches! Thank you for filling the gaps, and for seeing me as the person I've always been. I would also like to dedicate this project to my beloved chihuahua Remy who provided ample emotional support during the completion of this project. Remy, my son, you are my forever baby, and I wish I could slow down time to enjoy you for even longer. I love you always.

ii

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to give a special thanks to the faculty members at TWU who have helped me throughout the research process. I would like to thank my thesis chair, Dr. Claudia Pyland, who diligently worked to complete edits and revisions, offered professional mentorship, and went above and beyond for over a year to help me meet my goals with this project. I couldn't have done this without you and your thoughtful guidance. I see how hard you work every day and how much your students mean to you! Thank you for your realness and for being a compassionate leader who is willing to share your authentic self with me. I would like to thank Dr. Debra Mollen who co-advised this project and provided expert feedback and edits in conjunction with my chair. Dr. Mollen, it's been an honor to be your student and to have benefitted from your legacy at TWU! Thank you for all of the support you've given me throughout the many ups and downs of my graduate training. I would like to thank my expert committee member Dr. Annika Nelson who provided me with validation and expertise throughout the completion of this project. It has been a wonderful privilege working with you, and thank you for all of the important work you do for this issue. Additionally, I would like to thank my statistics advisor, Dr. John Terrizzi who assisted in the data analysis of this initiative and continues to help me grow as a researcher! I appreciate your sincerity and keeping me on top of my stuff! Thank you for giving me the push to explore my macro-level interests. I would also love to thank my TWU Class of 2023 Master's cohort who gave me such an amazing graduate experience during a time when I really needed love and acceptance. I have learned so much from all of you, and it has been so joyous to have shared this journey together with you. I love you all and am so proud of us!

iii

ABSTRACT

JAMIE CAMPOS

THE EFFECTS OF EMPOWERMENT ON ACTION RESPONSES TO GLOBAL CLIMATE CHANGE

DECEMBER 2023

Global climate change has many complex impacts that are cascading and increasing with a lack of direct action. Indirect and direct impacts on human life occur as a result of climate change that disproportionately impact marginalized communities. The psychological impacts of climate change are discussed, including ecological anxiety and ecological grief. The effects of powerlessness and psychological empowerment are discussed concerning their effects on psychological adaptation. In this study, I examined whether a visual message of empowerment or powerlessness will influence participants' psychological responses to climate change in a sample of 131 participants. Neither empowerment nor powerlessness narratives had an effect on levels of psychological adaptation, and climate anxiety did not exacerbate this proposed effect. There was no evidence to suggest that climate change denial moderated this proposed effect. Implications for clinical practice and future research are discussed.

DEDICATIONii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTSiii
ABSTRACTiv
I. INTRODUCTION
Mental Health Impacts of Climate Change
Psychological Empowerment
Definition of Terms7
II. LITERATURE REVIEW
Overview of Climate Change
Psychological Impact of Climate Change
Indirect Psychological Impacts of Climate Change
Direct Psychological Impacts of Climate Change
Mediators and Moderators of Psychological Impacts
Socioemotional and Affective Responses to Climate Change
Apathy and Climate Change Denial
Ecological Anxiety
Ecological Grief
Marginalization and Climate Change Impacts

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Public Messaging About Climate Change
Empowerment Messaging on Climate Change
Powerlessness to Climate Change Messages
Visual and Written Stimuli
Psychological Adaptation
Summary and Rationale for Proposed Study
Research Questions and Hypotheses
III. METHODS
Participants
Procedure
Measures 59
Demographic Form 59
Experience with Climate Change
Empowerment and Powerlessness Messaging
Climate Change Denial 61
Climate Anxiety
Psychological Adaptation 62
Statistical Analysis
Research Question One

Research Question Two	
Research Question Three	
IV. RESULTS	
Statistical Analyses	
Research Question One	
Research Question Two	
Research Question Three	
V. DISCUSSION	
Integration with Existing Research	
Clinical Considerations	
Future Research	
Strengths	
Limitations	
Conclusion	
REFERENCES	
A. Recruitment Flyer	
B. Study Disclosure	
C. Demographic Form	
D. Stimuli	

E. Climate Change Denial Scale	130
F. Climate Anxiety Scale	
G. Psychological Adaptation Scale	

LIST OF TABLES

1. Income and Employment Status	66
2. Dependents and Social Support	67
3. Immigration Status and Political Affiliation for U.S. Participants	68
4. Descriptive Statistics and Correlations for Multiple Regression	69
5. Means, Standard Deviations, and One-Way Analyses of Variance	71
6. One-way Analysis of Variance	71
7. Independent Samples <i>T</i> -Test	72

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Global climate change has been established by decades of research to be anthropogenic, or caused by human activity (Barnett et al., 2001; Höök & Tang, 2013; Lenoir et al., 2017; Poortinga et al., 2011; Riebsame, 1990). Climate change, including extreme weather events, rising sea levels, food and water shortages, and rising rates of infectious diseases (Chapman et al., 2014) have indirect impacts on human life, such as disruptions to major infrastructural systems and rising rates of violence, racism, and war (Turner et al., 2010). While direct impacts are acute in nature such as heat stress and direct exposure to extreme weather events, indirect impacts are subacute and reflect subsequent impacts of climate change such as loss of one's home, migration, compromised health and well-being, a struggling economy, and rising civil violence and unrest (Palinkas & Wong, 2020). Direct impacts have been discussed in mainstream media, but there is much left to explore in terms of the indirect impacts caused by global climate change, namely, mental health.

Levels of climate change and mental health impact are dependent on present and future efforts of mitigation, adaptation, and preparedness for global climate catastrophe. While everyone will be uniquely impacted by the global climate crisis, some groups endure more harrowing effects than others, particularly marginalized populations. The psychological impacts of global climate change will be influenced by several components, including food and water availability, energy resources, health and well-being, socio-economic development, inequity, marginalization, and centuries-long impacts of colonization (Palinkas & Wong, 2020; Pörtner et al., 2022; Tam et al., 2021).

The Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2022) discussed the hazards associated with climate change that are cascading, complex, and compounding with a lack of direct action (Pörtner et al., 2022). The report discusses the escalating consequences of global climate change. Climate hazards are anticipated to take place concurrently, resulting in high-impact cascading effects exemplified by the interactions of complex climatic and non-climatic events. Cascading effects could include disruptions to the supply chain or energy resources due to extreme weather events, where access to food or energy is the indirect subsequent challenge to the direct impact of extreme weather events. The report projects that an increase in these hazards will result in compounding risk for climate-related disasters, which will have serious consequences for public mental health.

Mental Health Impacts of Climate Change

Mental health impacts, including stress and anxiety, are projected to rise with global temperature in all regions assessed, particularly for vulnerable groups such as children, adolescents, disabled people, and older adults (Parmesan et al., 2022). Mental health ailments have emerged, including ecological anxiety, ecological grief, climate pre-post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), and solastalgia, and it is imperative for professionals to attend to these variations in mental health responses to climate change in a way that will stimulate pro-environmental action, an area less explored in clinical practice (Ágoston et al., 2022). Scientific knowledge and levels of education play a role in whether and to what extent an individual worries about climate change, though there are individual traits, including political affiliation and personal values, that have also been shown to inform ecologically anxious reactions.

Individuals have similar ways of grieving the environment as they do with other objects. Ecological grief is a natural response to environmental loss and degradation, particularly for

those whose lives and livelihoods are intimately connected to the natural world (Comtesse et al., 2021). Ecological grief has features of ordinary grief, such as accepting the reality of the loss, processing the somatic pain of the loss, adjusting to the internal and external world without the lost object, and finding connection with the lost object while adjusting to a new life without it (Clark, 2020).

Grieving and mourning can look different depending on the individual, their culture, and the nature of their circumstances. Ecological grief has been studied as a response to gradual, slow, and enduring ecological changes (Comtesse et al., 2021). These gradual changes over a long period have been observed as slow, violent decimation of nature which are not as visible due to the complex interactions of global climate change and the inability to identify specific precipitating events. There is also anticipation of future environmental loss that has been closely related to the prolonged grief experienced as livelihoods, ways of life, and culture are lost. Levels of ecological grief vary with youth and children, particularly those who are impacted by growing up with increasing amounts of loss.

Psychological Empowerment

Substantial loss and destruction of one's livelihood, home, or cultural identity can lead one to feel powerless. With a steady increase in environmental loss, psychological empowerment may be a useful element when adapting to a changing environment. Psychological empowerment is the relationship between one's sense of self-control and self-efficacy as it relates to the achievement of goals or completion of tasks, environment, and environmental demands (Amor et al., 2021). When discussing ecological grief and anxiety, it is key to note the mechanisms for change, including that of psychological empowerment, as it increases adaptation and social engagement. Empowerment is both as a motivational and a social construct, which has

implications when considering whether to promote pro-environmental behavior at the individual or the collective level and for how one experiences their level of power (Conger & Kanungo, 1988). As those more vulnerable depend on those in power to make informed decisions about climate change, these discrepancies in power have deeper implications for proactive decisionmaking both at the individual and structural levels. Empowerment has been proposed as a motivational construct by which an individual will feel more externally motivated and empowered when they feel secure in their resources and their ability to manage their circumstances (Pieterse et al., 2010).

Power is a social element that informs the pursuit of goals in individuals and society. Having power contributes to self-regulation and the achievement of goals, while having less or no power inhibits those psychological processes. A need for more power reflects an individual desire to influence, teach, and lead others to achievement that can present at the individual and institutional levels (Jha, 2010). When a person's motivational needs are driven by a desire for more power, empowerment can serve as a tool to satisfy this intrinsic motivation. As a lack of power is known to impede executive functioning, the combination of psychological processes that inform decision-making and the achievement of goals results in a performance discrepancy between those in power and the powerless (Albalooshi et al., 2020). A person who is disempowered may behave more vigilantly, which can deplete their mental resources and stifle performance, whereas a person who is psychologically empowered does not spend excessive amounts of energy satisfying their need for resources to feel empowered (Albalooshi et al., 2020). Self-affirmation is the idea that the internal self is flexible enough that when an individual feels threatened in one life domain, affirming themselves in another life domain may restore a sense of self-efficacy (Albalooshi et al., 2020). Increasing self-efficacy can serve as a buffer to

psychological threat or harm (Albalooshi et al., 2020). Self-efficacy is the individual belief that one has the ability and capacity to achieve a certain outcome or set of outcomes (Bandura, 1977). Self-affirmation improves the inhibitory control element of executive functioning which contributes to higher levels of self-efficacy and greater pursuit of goals. Instilling self-efficacy through self-affirmation will counteract the impairment of inhibitory control in those who feel powerless, mitigating the performance gap within this hierarchy of power. Given that selfaffirmation and promoting self-efficacy contribute to psychological empowerment, which has positive effects on an individual's pursuit of goals, it may be useful to employ this strategy at the macro level to promote healthy psychological adaptation to climate change. Promoting psychological empowerment may give an individual the sense that their actions on the micro level has a meaningful impact on their ability to psychologically adapt to climate change and produce positive collective action response outcomes.

Clayton and Karazsia (2020) conducted a study to review the impact of written empowerment and powerlessness messaging on psychological adaptation, which revealed a weak positive relationship between empowerment messaging and climate change anxiety when controlling for experience with climate change. This could be due to the order effects of the stimuli presented, the medium of messaging used (written vs. visual), or due to the vagueness of the messaging (Clayton & Karazsia, 2020). This weak relationship is inconsistent with existing literature which requires further exploration. Cognitive impairment measured higher in the empowerment condition than in the powerlessness condition, which may indicate differences due to experience with climate change. Direct experience with climate change was captured by items 14-16 of the climate anxiety scale (CAS) featuring questions such as "I have been directly impacted by climate change," and "I have noticed a change in a place that is important to me

because of climate change." While the experience of climate change was positively correlated with psychological adaptation, this study offers evidence that there must be direct experience with climate change for this relationship to be significant.

Understanding climate change perceptions and their responses requires evaluating the process by which an individual assigns meaning to their perceptions and what medium of messaging is the most effective at internalizing the message as personally significant. Rashotte (2002) conducted a study that applied Affect Control Theory to participants who witnessed a video film presentation. Affect Control Theory is a framework that asserts that individuals in various social scenarios will attach cultural significance to the elements of their perceived situation and environment (e.g., people, places, things, etc.). The participants were assigned a visual or written depiction of a social scenario and observed based on their evaluations of the social situation. Results revealed that participants who received the visual film presentation attached more portent perceptions and personal significance than those who did in the written condition. Visual stimuli depicted a simpler representation of the actors in the film and their actions than the written version of the film, indicating that superfluous text details in written messaging can haze the meaning-making of the depiction. The author found that the perceived attitudes of the actors were more easily interpreted as viewers of the video presentation did not require as much additional information to make sense of the film (Rashotte, 2002). As visual stimuli resulted in a clearer interpretation of the film than the written stimuli did, it may be useful to explore these differences in empowerment and powerlessness messaging in climate change perceptions to promote feelings of empowerment as an adaptive response to a warming climate. Differences in visual empowerment and powerlessness messaging may produce more significant effects on an individual's levels of psychological adaptation to climate change.

Definition of Terms

1. Climate pre-PTSD- traumatic response to the stressor of experienced or anticipated effects of climate change (Budziszewska & Kalwak, 2022).

2. Solastalgia- the condition of loneliness, insecurity, and powerlessness caused by the transformation of one's home environment which can result from both acute impacts as well as chronic ecological decay caused by climate change (Ágoston et al., 2022).

3. Ecological anxiety- anxiety associated with ecological crisis (Comtesse et al., 2021).

4. Climate change anxiety- ecological anxiety that is specifically related to climate change.

5. Ecological grief- emotional reaction to ecological loss (Clayton & Karazsia, 2020).

9. Vulnerability- the predisposition or likelihood to be adversely affected by a variety of elements such as sensitivity and susceptibility to harm as well as having a lack of ability to cope and adapt (Pörtner et al., 2022).

10. Reasons for concern (RFC)- Framework for scientific communication about the accrual of risk in five broad categories (unique and threatened systems, extreme weather events, distribution of impacts, global aggregate impacts, and large-scale singular events) (Pörtner et al., 2022).

11. Affect Control Theory- a framework that asserts that individuals in various social scenarios will attach cultural significance to the elements of their perceived social situations (people, places, things, etc.; Rashotte, 2002).

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

Overview of Climate Change

Climate change is the gradual transition of weather and climate patterns over an extended period of time. There is irrefutable evidence that the planet's atmosphere is rising in temperature at an alarming rate, increasing extreme weather events, increasing droughts and floods, sea levels are rising, and agriculture systems are declining (Kim & Ahn, 2019; Markus et al., 2019; Meehl & Tebaldi, 2004; Parmesan et al., 2022; Pörtner et al., 2022). Industrialization has been identified as the primary cause of a warming climate (Budziszewska & Kalwak, 2022). The American Psychological Association Task Force for Climate Change (Swim et al., 2011) has stated in their report on the Interface Between Psychology and Global Climate Change that the interactions of climate change will occur at multiple levels which will affect individuals, families, organizations, government, and societies (Swim et al., 2011). Climate change theory has evolved from scientific speculation and curiosity to proven fact backed by decades of research (Barnett et al., 2001; Gornitz & Nasa, 1985; Hook & Tang, 2013; Lenoir et al., 2017; Parmesan et al., 2022; Poortinga et al., 2011; Riebsame, 1990).

Anthropogenic climate change has caused extensive detrimental effects and destruction to ecosystems and the people who inhabit them to an extent that has surpassed Earth's normal climate variability (Padhy et al., 2015; Parmesan et al., 2022; Reser & Swim, 2011). Vulnerability to climate change is dependent on one's level of climate change impacts relative to their ability to cope and adapt to a changing environment and society (Parmesan et al., 2022). Individuals who have been minoritized due to their race or ethnicity, disability, sex or gender identity, sexual orientation, or age all have pre-existing vulnerabilities that are exacerbated by

climate change impacts. Other groups may be considered vulnerable due to their disproportionate impact of climate change stress and available resources to cope which can include, indigenous people, farmers, first responders, and climate scientists. Vulnerable people and communities are disproportionately affected by climate change compared to people in more industrialized regions. The increase in occurrences of extreme weather and climate change disasters have caused widespread decimation of ecosystems, communities, and infrastructure, including recordbreaking heatwaves, catastrophic precipitation events, wildfires, and drought (Parmesan et al., 2022). Climate change has caused pervasive damage and permanent species extinctions on land and in Earth's marine ecosystems. A sustainable balance, or sustainability, occurs when a population interacts with its environment in a way that allows the population to thrive to its fullest extent without causing permanent harm to the environment it relies on (Ruggerio, 2021). Climate change has decreased food and water supplies, which has impeded human sustainability with the higher frequency of extreme weather events (Cunsolo & Ellis, 2018; Parmesan et al., 2022).

The 2022 Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change includes detailed impacts of climate change in the near term from 2021-2040 and in the mid to long-term 2041-2100. In the near term, the report states that Earth's warming by more than 1.5°C since the second half of the nineteenth century would amount to indefinite increases in climate change consequences, including multiple acute risks to environments and human beings. The level of environmental impact and its subsequent impact on humans is dependent on the environment's exposure to climate hazards as they increase in the coming term. Actions to reduce greenhouse gas emissions would limit destruction and the loss of environment to climate change, though damages will still occur in the face of these efforts. Near-term risks for natural

losses are moderate to high for forest terrain, seagrass, and kelp, and Arctic and ice-based ecosystems. The continual rise in sea level will edge toward coastal communities and infrastructure and submerge low-lying terrain into the ocean. With the rise of urbanization, energy, water, and other commodities will be strained as these resources will be exacerbated by climate change impacts. Violence will increase due to strained socioeconomic conditions, which may lead to migration patterns. Differences by region exist, and risk is greater in places where species and human beings are close to their thermal threshold, primarily along coastlines or in close proximity to ice or rivers. Risks are high in areas where climate struggles exist even in the absence of anthropogenic climate change drivers which are unavoidable even when accounting for each emissions scenario, though these impacts can be moderated by adaptation. Reasons for Concern (RFC) are projected to become higher as they are associated with increasingly extreme weather events as well as widespread irreparable damages to Earth's ecosystems (Parmesan et al., 2022).

The 2022 Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change continues to discuss climate change impacts ranging from the mid to long term (2041-2100) (Pörtner et al., 2022). Beyond 2040 and considering the levels of greenhouse gas emissions, climate change will amount to a multitude of risks to both natural and industrialized systems. For the 127 noted risks, mid and long-term effects are expected to be several times higher than current measures indicate. The rate of climate change is strongly dependent on near-term efforts to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and acclimate to the incoming changes that are happening immediately, as well as the expected adverse impacts. Damage to, destruction of, and a loss of ecosystems and biodiversity are already known risks for every area of the world due to accumulated global warmth and will continue to be compromised with each increment toward a

warmer climate. On land, 3-14% of species will likely confront a high risk of extinction to global warming levels of 1.5°C, which may increase up to 3 to 18% at 2°C, 3-29% at 3°C, 3-39% at 4°C, and 3-48% at 5°C. Compromises in physical water and the occurrence of water-related risks will increase in all regions in the mid to long term. Melting water availability for irrigation is expected to decline by nearly 20%, diminishing water resources for agriculture, hydropower, and for human use in the mid to long term, these risks doubling with the rise of global temperature reaching 4°C (Pörtner et al., 2022).

On smaller islands, water scarcity will result from climate change, as changes to the direction of water flow, timing, and associated precipitation patterns are expected to grossly impact freshwater environments in all emissions scenarios. Increases of water damages to homes, communities, and infrastructure are projected to be higher than 1.4 to 2 times at 2°C and 2.5 to 3.9 times at 3°C than they are at the current warming rate of 1.5°C without adaptation. Once global warming has reached 4°C, nearly 10% of the terrestrial land surface is expected to face increases in extreme river flows in the same area, implying the need for all water-use solutions. Problems with water management will increase in both the near and long term, depending on the rate, magnitude, and region-specific details of future global warming, and will be exceptionally challenging for areas with strained resources for water access. Global warming will create barriers to food access and production, particularly in minoritized communities where food security and nutrition are already challenged. At a rising temperature of 2°C or higher, food security threats and risks will be more severe, leading to nutrition deficiencies in South Asia, Sub-Saharan Africa, Central and South America, as well as in Small Islands.

A warming climate will reduce soil nutrient availability, disrupt ecosystem services such as pollination, increase pest and disease outbreaks, reduce marine biomass, and undercut food

production in many areas on land and in the sea (Parmesan et al., 2022). If the global temperature increases to 3°C or higher, climate change levels in the long term will expose regions to global warming-related hazards and will manifest substantially outpacing the 2°C or lower global warming point. Increased exposure to dangerous levels of heat will occur with notable geographic differences in areas without heat-adaptive methodology, causing greater numbers of premature death. Scientists state with high confidence that environment-sensitive food, water, and vector-borne diseases are at higher risk in all emissions scenarios with or without adaptation. Billions of people could be at risk of deadly illnesses, such as dengue fever in areas such as Europe, Central and South America, sub-Saharan Africa, and Asia due to climbing global temperatures (Parmesan et al., 2022).

Nearly a billion people are expected to be at risk from coastal-specific climate change hazards in the mid-term in all greenhouse gas emission scenarios (Parmesan et al., 2022). Exposure to flooding is expected to increase to around 20% in the event that the sea level rises higher than .15 meters in comparison to 2020 sea levels. Rising sea levels pose a threat to Small Islands and low-lying coastal areas. The cost of repairing and maintaining key infrastructure is expected to increase with rising global temperatures, causing major disruptions to fundamental systems including transportation, energy, and urban buildings. Economic damage is expected to rise non-linearly with a warming climate. Displacement is expected to increase as precipitation levels increase with subsequent flooding, monsoons, drought, and rising sea levels. As the climate becomes warmer, migration is expected to increase from areas where there is high exposure to extreme weather events and low capacity for adaptation (Parmesan et al., 2022).

The Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2022) discusses the vulnerability of certain groups who face greater exposure to climate change and

extreme weather events (Pörtner et al., 2022). The report describes climate change impact patterns that are driven by multiple factors, including socioeconomic development, frivolous use of water and land resources, marginalization, inequity, and the intergenerational effects of colonialism. Since the release of the IPCC Fifth Assessment Report, there is more substantial evidence of the destruction and degradation of ecosystems caused by anthropogenic climate change which increases the risk for already vulnerable populations. Ecocide and loss of resources will have especially devastating effects on Indigenous communities who directly depend on the environment to meet basic human needs (Parmesan et al., 2022). Vulnerability is higher and more concentrated in East, Central, and West Africa, South Asia, South and Central America, the Arctic, and Small Islands. Poverty, political instability, and scarcity of resources will increase human-environment vulnerability levels in certain regions. Vulnerability will increase in areas where there are frequent occurrences of violent crime and higher levels of ecosystem-dependent livelihoods.

The future of vulnerable ecosystems will strongly depend on the actions of the present and future development of society, including production and consumption, socioeconomic pressures, and the sustainable use of Earth's land and water resources (Parmesan et al., 2022). Future vulnerability will be higher where the potential for local, national, and municipal authorities, the private sector, and communities to be able to sustain infrastructures and basic public services. If core systems, such as waste management, health, water, and transportation are not adapted to a changing climate, these areas will become increasingly vulnerable to the impacts of climate change. Future risks of climate change are increasing as socioeconomic development rises, including wealth inequality, mass migration, and urbanization (Parmesan et al., 2022).

Many experts agree that there is a high degree of uncertainty with many of the climate scenario models that project future risks and impacts which highlights the need for careful planning and management to anticipate future effects of climate change (Kim & Ahn, 2019; Markus et al., 2019; Meehl & Tebaldi, 2004; Parmesan et al., 2022). Experts have affirmed that future risks will include severe drought and extreme flooding, which will compromise food production and water resources in the near term (Chen et al., 2019; Greuell et al., 2015; Kim & Ahn, 2019; Markus et al., 2019). This increase in risk is particularly vulnerable where there is rough terrain and high population density (Chen et al., 2019). Droughts and floods cause significant damage to agricultural production and living systems, and this systemic vulnerability and future risk are the guiding elements used to prepare for future drought and flood challenges (Chen et al., 2019).

Drought and heat waves are anticipated to be impactful globally, with the greatest increase in urban areas (Guerreiro et al., 2018). In low-impact estimates, drought is expected to intensify in urban areas while river flooding is expected to increase, high-impact estimates anticipate that most urban areas will experience increased flood and drought risks (Guerreiro et al., 2018; Parmesan et al., 2022). Floods and droughts disproportionately affect people whose incomes are below the federal poverty threshold, particularly in population-dense areas (Parmesan et al., 2022; Winsemius et al., 2018). This pattern of impact remains unchanged in future climate estimates, though the number of people who suffer from the impacts of drought and flood can rise or fall substantially depending on the region and other compounding risk factors (Winsemius et al., 2018). Without considering the additional compounding risks for climate change, urban areas are expected to increase in flood and drought occurrences nearly

twice as much by the year 2030 while flood and drought risks are expected to increase globally by 250% with regional variations (Parmesan et al., 2022).

The highest rates of human mortality come from both air and atmospheric-related deaths, which has signaled a need for public health measures (Hajat et al., 2014). Climate change will increase allergen-related illnesses, including asthma and hay fever due to a longer pollen season (Balbus et al., 2016; McMichael et al., 2006). Mosquito and tickborne infectious diseases are expected to increase with rising temperatures and heavy rainfall, which will heighten infectious disease transmission (McMichael et al., 2006). Water-borne illnesses such as cholera may increase with rising temperatures and contamination from flooding events, particularly in warming estuaries (McMichael et al., 2006). Several important factors influence the severity and spread of disease, such as the mobility of people, livestock, and goods; public health measures in place; the availability of medicine; the quality of medical care available; individual behavior; and the political climate (Jones et al., 2019). While drug and pesticide resistance are increasing, researchers urge the need to continue to challenge existing and novel diseases, especially vectorborne illnesses (Jones et al., 2019). An estimated 12,000 people will die per year in China by 2050 from air pollutant illnesses fueled by extreme heat waves and atmospheric stagnation, which will present novel challenges for managing air quality in the future (Hong et al., 2019). Health challenges including chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), diabetes, cardiovascular disease, and obesity are expected to increase with climate change which is associated with a number of compounding risk factors such as population density, medication, and dietary needs, exposure to heat-related stress, and difficulties receiving aid or protective measures (i.e., evacuation, migration; Balbus et al., 2016).

Food production is scheduled to be compromised with the rising levels of CO2 in the Earth's atmosphere, which will create widespread food insecurity (Arunrat et al., 2021; Hatfield & Walthall, 2014). Record high-temperature maximums and record low-temperature minimums are anticipated to increase rapidly by the end of the century, which could have implications for agriculture and food production (Meehl et al., 2004). Food poisoning and salmonella increase with rising temperatures, which may further compromise food health and security (McMichael et al., 2006). With food production's inability to meet global demands, food shortages will become more pressing, particularly for those in tropical, small-island nations, and in countries that depend on imports to meet their own supply chain demands (Ho et al., 2016). Taiwanese research has indicated that agricultural production and fishing have declined due to climate change, causing further instability in the food supply which varies in quality and quantity (Ho et al., 2016). Future risk assessment for food production depends on national rates of agricultural production rather than food security itself which is further influenced by a nation's ability to increase its imports (Sundström et al., 2014).

An individual nation's ability to compensate for agricultural losses depends on the global level of agricultural production and availability of food, alluding to the complex and interacting nature of risks and adaptation factors that may present differently in the coming decades (Sundström et al., 2014). Global warming has been predicted to reduce global food production over 10% by the year 2050 with substantially more risk for malnutrition in all scenarios tested (Tai et al., 2014). Agriculture will suffer impacts where crops are sensitive to CO2 levels and drought (Parmesan et al., 2022). Whereas some crops (such as wheat) are more sensitive to ozone effects, and others (such as maize) are more sensitive to rising temperatures, these measures provide guidance for air quality interventions in agricultural production and planning

(Parmesan et al., 2022). Air quality management has been noted to potentially offset a small portion of climate impacts in certain scenarios which may be useful for future planning in food and agricultural production (Tai et al., 2014).

In addition to crop failure, food production will be interrupted by rising sea levels that will compromise infrastructure with heavy rainfall and storm surges which may reduce the ability to produce food (Parmesan et al., 2022). Health will be at risk and will be worsened by the interaction of acute food production shortfalls that are further exacerbated by rising temperatures and extreme weather conditions. These interactions will result in increased food prices, lower household incomes, and higher rates of malnutrition and climate-related deaths in areas where there are no or lower levels of adaptation. Risks to food security as a result of climate change will be further exacerbated by the health risks of food contamination of crops and seafood. In urban areas, climate impacts to core infrastructure will lead to losses and damages across water and food systems which will have interactions that will have effects beyond the direct climate hazard. In the Amazon region and in other mountainous regions, the ripple effects from climate hazards will result in the irreversible loss of living systems and biodiversity with a 2°C increase in temperature (Parmesan et al., 2022).

Unavoidable rising sea levels will bring ripple and compounding effects that will result in the loss of coastal ecosystems and services, groundwater supply, flooding, and will cause damage to coastal infrastructure, causing harm to livelihoods, developments, well-being, health, food and water supplies, and a loss of cultural values in the near and long-term. Extreme weather and climate will result in disastrous economic and social impacts across national borders via supply chains, natural resource exchange, and markets, with higher transboundary risks in the energy, food, and water sectors. Water resource availability will compromise the risk of future

infrastructure projects including hydropower which will reduce food and energy production. Risks will increase, as there will be pushback in response to efforts to reduce the risks of a warming climate, which will raise maladaptation and worsen the side effects of the reduction of emissions and carbon dioxide removal. The report discusses solar radiation modification and its potential to offset global warming and lessen the effects of some climate hazards, though significant residual effects of climate hazards may occur at regional and timescales (Parmesan et al., 2022).

Psychological Impact of Climate Change

Globally, humans have been enduring various and cascading psychological impacts of climate change that will be experienced disproportionately by vulnerable people (Ágoston et al., 2022; Clayton, 2021; Costello et al., 2009; Hogg et al., 2021; Padhy et al., 2015; Swim et al., 2011). Salient experiences of adversity or injury due to extreme weather events may be experienced as direct impacts, but many individuals experience psychological effects that are subtler, more gradual, and appear primarily through media consumption (Reser & Swim, 2011; Weber & Stern, 2011). While it is necessary to quell the severity of immediate impacts, it is also important to recognize the interactive nature of various levels of living systems at play in the changing global climate (National Research Council, 2008).

Indirect Psychological Impacts of Climate Change

While direct and indirect psychological impacts cause distress, psychological distress as a result of climate change can also affect social and community well-being. While direct impacts are easily identifiable and acute such as heat stress or an extreme weather event, indirect impacts are more long-term, subsequent, and subacute in nature (Palinkas & Wong, 2020). Social and community well-being may depend on the environment's ability to sustain agriculture and

habitation which will influence populations that vary in geographic distribution due to inter and intrapersonal changes in social relationships (Cianconi et al., 2020; Clayton, 2021; Hayes et al., 2018). Climate change, and its environmental impacts, including rising sea levels that can result in both acute and chronic mental health challenges for those whose homes and communities, may be compromised (Hayes et al., 2018; Tam et al., 2021; Yardley, 2007). While an event may have a direct impact on one geographic area, its subsequent indirect effects may affect another geographic location that may be connected economically.

Heat has been shown to cause violence, where with every incremental increase in ambient temperature, violence, and aggression will also increase (Anderson, 2001; Miles-Novelo & Anderson, 2019). Scientific estimates predict that with every temperature increase of two degrees Fahrenheit, there will be an increase of approximately 24,000 assaults or murders in the United States (Anderson, 2001; Miles-Novelo & Anderson, 2019). This causal relationship has been tested both in lab settings and in regional temperature variations indicating that heat can directly cause violent behavior, which has implications for public health measures (Anderson, 2001). This becomes important when thinking about the psychological impacts of heat and violence and who is more susceptible to these effects. One study found that women who felt powerless endured higher rates of intimate partner violence and depression which may give practitioners helpful information about how climate change and increasing temperatures are an underlying cause that fuels other social perils (Filson et al., 2010).

Climate change will also have effects on between-group relationships, which may result from a lack of resources or when environmental destruction requires one group to relocate away from their home to migrate to a new territory (Costello et al., 2009; Hayes et al., 2018; Palinkas & Wong, 2020; Reuveny, 2008). Researchers note that when community leadership fails to

effectively address climate change disasters, individuals will lose trust and security in their authorities, which can exacerbate within and between-group conflict (Abbott, 2008; Palinkas & Wong, 2020). Psychological distress can occur with relocation, which may involve detachment and grieving of one's home place, disruption of community support, and the desire to maintain cultural integrity once one has relocated (Adger et al., 2009). This social and geographical disconnection can cause feelings of grief, an identity crisis, or anxiety in those with a strong attachment to their home or nationality (Doherty & Clayton, 2011).

Between-group tensions will be exponentially raised with the fact that Western cultures have contributed far more to greenhouse gas emissions than other low and middle-income nations, which may have implications for countries such as the United States, where racism and marginalization have centuries-long pre-existing tensions. There will be an increased disparity in access to resources, which will exacerbate intergroup tension (Costello et al., 2009; Hayes et al., 2018). Individuals and communities with fewer resources will endure stronger consequences of climate change, which hinders their ability to afford technology that can mitigate financial and medical harm caused by climate change (Bullard & Johnson, 2000). Within groups, those with one or more marginalized identities are more likely to have fewer resources, which can heighten pre-existing social hostility (Bullard & Johnson, 2000). Victimization increases when there are anomalously hot temperatures, which can have varying impacts (Gorislavsky & Mares, 2022). Risk for victimization caused by climate change is greater among African American males who spend time outdoors than White women who remain indoors, which suggests that there are contextual factors that contribute to one's experience of climate change (Gorislavsky & Mares, 2022).

As the environment is a part of human health and well-being, decreased access to thriving ecosystems is another mental health consequence of a rapidly changing climate (Wilson, 2002). Many have suggested the benefits of having access to natural ecosystems for physical and mental health, where climate change is a major threat to biodiversity and humans exacerbate this lack of access with deforestation and urbanization (De Vries et al., 2003; Maas et al., 2006). In urban areas, environmental destruction reduces the availability of green spaces, such as hiking trails or public parks, where ecosystems are fast declining and their demands for resources outweigh the infrastructural ability to maintain them (Younger et al., 2008). Access to nature is more important for marginalized groups, which has implications for the social and community impacts of climate change (Kuo & Faber Taylor, 2004). Groups whose lives and identities are closely connected to a particular place or the environment, such as farmers or Indigenous groups located in the Arctic, will be exceptionally sensitive to the psychological impacts of climate change (Burley, 2010; Symon, 2005).

Direct Psychological Impacts of Climate Change

Climate disasters and extreme weather events are likely to have more salient impacts on the severity and pervasiveness of mental health challenges in communities, important implications for psychological well-being, and may cause stressful social, environmental, or economic disruptions (Cianconi et al., 2020; Costello et al., 2009; Clayton, 2021; Few, 2007; Fritze et al., 2008; Page & Howard, 2010; Seaman, 2016). Direct climate change impacts are immediate and acute such as ambient heat stress and extreme weather events. Direct psychological impacts of climate-related disasters can include PTSD, major depression, somatic disorders, and other mental health challenges, including substance use problems, suicidality, and abuse (Fritze et al., 2008; Galea & Vlahov, 2005; Marshall & Picou, 2008; Seaman, 2016;

Singels et al., 2005). More enduring and severe heat waves caused by climate change are associated with higher rates of death, suicide, homicide, and violence (Anderson, 2001; Basu & Samet, 2002; Meehl & Tebaldi, 2004; Qi et al., 2009). Distressing responses following a disaster may result in the development of PTSD, mood and anxiety disorders, and other mental health challenges such as prolonged grief or substance use problems (Heir et al., 2008). A climate disaster may catalyze pre-existing mental health conditions and can increase vulnerability to future distressing events (Heir et al., 2008). Some noted approaches to intervention and prevention of climate disasters are promoting a sense of safety, calmness, individual and community-level self-efficacy, connectedness, and hopefulness (Hobfoll et al., 2007).

Mediators and Moderators of Psychological Impacts

Media consumption is an important consideration that may help describe how climate change can have psychological impacts on individuals having few or no direct experiences to climate change (Burke et al., 2018; Reser & Swim, 2011). Psychological distress has potentially more influence from media rather than distressing weather patterns on their own (Reser et al., 2012; Stokols et al., 2009; Swim et al., 2011). The media often has a political agenda and does not always include providing accurate information, but instead may attempt to sensationalize climate change events, market to a particular demographic, or present climate change as an object of debate rather than established scientific fact (Tam et al., 2021). With the availability of technology that provides a rapid delivery of information and imagery, an individual may respond with anxiety or passivity depending on how relevant or overwhelming the presented threat may be (Stokols et al., 2009). Similar to the effects of the terrorist attack of September 11th, 2001, media exposure has the power to intensify the psychological distress of disastrous events (Marshall & Picou, 2008).

Mental health professionals have affirmed that early intervention is beneficial for communities that may need resources for basic needs and effective psychological trauma recovery, especially those that are family-focused and promote community cohesion and cooperation (Haskett et al., 2008; Norris et al., 2002). Family interventions that attend to emotional and affective features have been shown to increase community organization, cooperation, and communication between those affected and those in authority (Haskett et al., 2008; Norris et al., 2002; Tam et al., 2021; Vernberg et al., 2008).

The severity of an individual's psychological distress in response to climate change events are moderated by resilience and vulnerability, the same mental processes that have the potential to influence an individual's sense of safety (environment-based livelihoods, living in low elevation, having a disability), where levels of severity can further limit their ability to mitigate and adapt to a warming climate (Brklacich et al., 2007). On the community level, having adaptive traits, such as strong community mental health, equitable access to resources, and engagement of citizens in disaster response and policymaking mitigates climate change while bolstering community resilience in the period following a climate crisis (Ebi & Semenza, 2008; Norris et al., 2008). An individual's proximity to ecological impacts of climate change, including rising sea levels and occurrences of extreme weather, will interact with other areas of vulnerability (population density, socioeconomic status, race/ethnicity), which has implications for the severity of disaster-related effects (Brouwer et al., 2007; Cianconi et al., 2020; Cutter & Finch, 2008; Few, 2007). Climate change researchers have identified particularly vulnerable groups at greater risk, including disabled people, children, older adults, people in developing countries, racial and ethnic minorities, and those who were vulnerable before climate-related events (Clayton, 2021; Haskett et al., 2008; Norris et al., 2002). People with mental illness have

higher levels of vulnerability due to the use of psychotropic medications which are sensitive to heat-related effects (Page & Howard, 2010).

A person's sense of urgency pertaining to climate change is mediated by cognitive estimates of individual risk and their responsibilities, which is moderated by the response of one's social affiliates (Leiserowitz, 2007). Though there are no significant differences in education level for people who are alarmed or dismissive of climate change, these groups do show differences in political values, levels of altruism, and attitudes about environmentalism (Clayton, 2021). There has been a noted association between political conservatism and climate change skepticism (Feygina et al., 2010). Whether a person has an immediate life stressor can also serve as a moderator in an individual's perception of climate change threats, including Women of Color who often have more pressing, imminent life demands (Pew Research Center, 2009; Weber, 2006).

Socioemotional and Affective Responses to Climate Change

The indirect and more subtle impacts of climate change include socioemotional and affective responses that come with witnessing environmental destruction and human suffering presented in media (eco-grief, depression, eco-anxiety) that may cause one to reconsider their lifestyle or economic choices whereas the onset of climate PTSD reflects direct and immediate psychological impacts (Clayton, 2021; Hayes et al., 2018; Palinkas & Wong, 2020). The need to belong and between group tensions negatively predict ant science attitudes (Fasce et al., 2021). While it is key to understand the magnitude of the global climate crisis, personal encounters with the impacts of climate change are universally experienced. for those impacted, this experience can elicit strong psychological reactions, which can cause distress or uncertainty (Böhm, 2003; Clayton, 2021; Stokols et al., 2009). In the United States, the majority of Americans believe that

climate change is real; however, nearly half of Americans do not know that climate change is caused by human activity (Ballew et al., 2019; Bergquist et al., 2022). As many as 8 out of 10 Democrats believe that climate change is a serious threat to the nation's well-being, which has increased from 6 out of 10 Democrats since 2013 (Tyson et al., 2023). In contrast, approximately 1 in 4 Republicans believe that climate change is a serious threat to the nation's well-being, which has remained stagnant for the last decade (Tyson et al., 2023). These findings indicate that each party has grown further apart in terms of beliefs about the seriousness of climate change threats (Tyson et al., 2023). An individual's political ideology is formulated first, which is followed by whether the individual trusts the climate change information source, the scientist, or the media presenting the information (Boulianne & Belland, 2022). Support for former President Donald Trump is a strong predictor of climate change skepticism (Boulianne & Belland, 2022).

Fletcher et al. (2021) conducted a survey in the United States in October 2016 that identified technological optimism, environmental attitudes, and gender to be stronger predictors of climate change worry than an individual's ability to imagine the year 2050 and their future feelings about climate change. A noteworthy observation of this study is that the survey had taken place immediately before the 2016 Presidential election, at a time when 74% of Americans expressed worry about climate change. When participants were tasked to describe future travel in the year 2050, only 29% of respondents expressed ideas about low-carbon machinery, indicating that imagining a sustainable future is less common than pervasive climate change worry (Fletcher et al., 2021).

Individual experiences of stress, cognitive factors, and an individual's choice in coping strategies influence how global climate change threats affect one's psychological well-being as well as their day-to-day behavior (Pakmehr et al., 2021; Stokols et al., 2009; Wandersman &

Hallman, 1993). Promoting information about the anthropogenic nature of climate change increases public comprehension about climate change and support for green policies (Bergquist et al., 2022). The effect of promoting this information is stable across political beliefs with no pushback among Republican responders (Bergquist et al., 2022). This evidence indicates that the more the public is aware of the causes of climate change, its impacts, and potential solutions, the majority of Americans can adjust their beliefs about climate change, evaluate its risks, and vote for supportive policies (Bergquist et al. 2022).

Apathy and Climate Change Denial

A common response to climate change is climate change denial which can range from blatant refusal of climate science or a subconscious reaction to climate change in which an individual postpones their anxiety by seeking instant gratification or material consumption (Wong-Parodi & Feygina, 2020). Some argue that this can also include the "green consumer" who expresses worry for the environment with no major changes in lifestyle, an individual whose elevated conscience and interconnectedness with the environment motivates them to take responsibility for their actions with no major lifestyle changes or spreading of awareness (Maiteny, 2002). Some may find it a challenge to accept the global climate crisis because it would require them to accept a potentially severe threat to their life. Accepting this reality would also morally require them to make vast changes in their own lives and communities.

People in the United States and those who are right-wing or have conservative beliefs are more likely to have more overt climate denial attitudes (Brulle, 2020; Krange et al., 2019; Hultman et al., 2019; Wong-Parodi & Feygina, 2020). Individuals from collectivist cultures and who have an integrated connection with nature are less likely to deny climate change, indicating that individualism is a barrier to climate change acceptance (Nartova-Bochaver et al., 2022).

Discussing denialism in the modern era requires us to define denialism in the present day where more and more people have accepted the facts of climate change. Apathy is a form of climate change denial that has also been an overwhelming description of the public's reaction to climate change. Scholars have described apathy as a psychological paralysis when confronted with the scope of the problem which can sometimes appear as psychological splitting, where the knowledge of the reality of the situation is removed from the emotional experience of the problem (Lertzman, 2010; Randall, 2009). Moser (2007) described apathy as the "drumbeat of news about various overwhelming environmental and societal problems" (p. 68). This pervasive apathetic reaction impedes individuals and communities from evolving their beliefs to reflect a more pro-environmental response to the climate crisis. Apathy has also been argued to be a functional tool for adaptation in which individuals perceive their current level of distress as a baseline for their reactions, where apathy serves to quell incapacitating anxieties that prevent us from living our lives as "normal" (Kahn, 1999). This highlights the paradox of living life as "normal" as adaptive only for the individual and not the environment. For marginalized groups, nonresponse to climate change can be explained by having more pressing life demands, which serve to moderate the urgency associated with climate change risk perceptions (Clayton, 2021; Pew Research Center, 2009; Weber, 2006). Women of Color and people with less education or income are more likely to disengage from climate change action due to having more immediate life stressors (Clayton, 2021).

Jylhä et al. (2022) discussed climate science denial in their review *Science Denial: A Narrative Review and Recommendations for Future Research and Practice* in which they discussed the common features of climate science denial including having cognitive biases or limited cognitive capacity which frequently finds individuals subscribing to conspiracy beliefs in
an effort to make sense of information in a way that will not require substantial changes in their lifestyle. Jylhä et al. (2022) discuss conflicting worldviews and ideologies that may disrupt the status quo or the free market economy with collective measures to transform infrastructure and tax emissions. Populism and conspiracy beliefs often develop out of the fear that powerful groups (scientists, politicians, etc.) victimize everyday people to carry out their own personal and corrupt agenda. Climate science denial is commonly an attempt to regulate one's emotions, where climate change may cause personal and imminent threats to one's well-being or otherwise may jeopardize something important for the denier. A novel examination of climate science denial in adolescents reveals similar patterns to far-right, conservative, and hedonistic attitudes as well as hope-based denial where adolescents desired meaningful change while having low self-efficacy in their ability to make an impact to lessen the effects of climate change (Jylhä et al., 2022).

Climate change denial can function as social justification for resisting climate change mitigation measures as well as a coping mechanism that can alter the perception of one's internal and external experience to reduce personal distress (Norgaard, 2011; Vaillant, 2000). Hostile sexism has been found to be strongly related to climate change denial which supports ecofeminist approaches for the modification of denialist attitudes (Nicol et al., 2022). Nonresponse to climate change has been associated with socially influenced denial in places where collective denial of environmental threats maintains the interest of the occupying group, such as areas where oil and gas production is a major commodity (Norgaard, 2011). This socially influenced denial inhibits climate change mitigation, which will further impede psychological adaptation to the changing environment. The inability or refusal to accept the reality of climate

change can further reduce one's ability to adapt by denying that climate change is a pressing and imminent existential threat.

As more and more people become aware of climate change, there remains a sizeable population that continue to deny the existence or underestimate the impact of human activity on climate change (Dunlap & Jacques, 2013; Häkkinen & Akrami, 2014; Lewandowsky et al., 2015; McCright & Dunlap, 2011; Tam et al., 2021; Washington, 2013; Wong-Parodi & Feygina, 2020). Many have reported not feeling concerned about climate change threats (Leiserowitz et al., 2013), though it is important to examine the source of this denialism. Research has shown that personal ideology and exposure to climate change education are variables associated with climate change denial (Greitemeyer, 2013; McCright & Dunlap, 2011). Gifford (2011) described the seven elements of climate change denial including ideologies, limited cognition, comparison with others, discrediting of science, limited behavior (prefer easy over effective action), perceived risks, and sunk costs (financial investments, behavioral momentum, and conflicting values). These structural barriers prevent the internalization of the reality of climate change and further reinforce the magnitude of the crisis.

Political affiliation plays a significant role in the acknowledgment of the climate crisis. Jylhä and Hellmer (2020) found that right-wing leaders and constituents dismiss global climate change at higher rates with anti-egalitarian and exclusionary preferences being the strongest predictors of denialism followed by traditional values. Survey-based research indicates that free market values are strongly associated with climate change skepticism (Dixon et al., 2017; Heath & Gifford, 2006). Political affiliation influences response to climate change messaging, with Democratic and left-aligned individuals more likely to respond positively to messaging encouraging pro-environmental behavior (Palm et al., 2020). Researchers suggest that free

market approaches to climate change may resolve the concerns of Republicans, which may make these solutions more effective for these individuals (Dixon et al., 2017). Right-leaning White men in the United States are more likely to refute climate change science, with greater differences presenting for White conservative men who self-report understanding the global climate crisis well (Jylhä & Hellmer, 2020; McCright & Dunlap, 2011). These false beliefs perpetuate high levels of denial in the United States, setting back the global population from effective adaptation and mitigation.

Sharry (2019) discussed climate change denialism as it presents in many forms. Many individuals no longer deny the visible truth about climate change, but many refute the connection of climate change to human actions. One of the less-explored versions of climate change denial is the idea that humans do not have a role in contributing to climate change or that climate change is not caused by human activity (Boulianne & Belland, 2022). This form of climate change denial is a barrier during a time when it is imperative that there is international cooperation to address climate change. Others may acknowledge the crisis and refuse to think about it and focus on their daily lives, ignoring the problem rather than actively denying it. Some may choose to think more optimistically, with wishful narratives that mitigate the severity of the crisis or with the hope that the government will make substantial policy changes. Some may hope that future geo-engineering advancements will quell the effects of greenhouse gas emissions. Denial may also exist with the rejection and ridicule of those who speak the truth about the climate crisis, undermining the issue by undermining the messenger. Sharry argued that acceptance is the antidote for denialism and that Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) methods are appropriate for accepting the reality of climate change and promoting responsive action (Sharry, 2019).

Ecological Anxiety

Ecological anxiety is an emotional response to future threats of climate change that manifest in adverse emotional states, such as uncontrollable worry, physical arousal, and apprehensiveness (Comtesse et al., 2021). Ecological anxiety, which includes symptoms of loss of appetite, panic attacks, weakness, irritability, and sleeplessness, has been discussed in the academic discourse (Hogg et al., 2021; Nobel, 2007). There is some difficulty with deciphering regular worry from pathological anxiety due to the ambiguous nature of what is certain about climate change threats and what constitutes an inflated reaction. Media outlets have described eco-anxiety regarding climate change as distressing symptoms, including sleeplessness, weakness, irritability, loss of appetite, and panic attacks (Clayton, 2021). Those who work in climate-related professions, such as environmental scientists, experience greater levels of microanxiety and stress about their future and the impacts of a changing climate (Tam et al., 2021). This anxiety and stress about the future often includes deciding whether or not to have children (Tam et al., 2021).

Others define ecological anxiety as a perpetual fear of environmental demise, the general feeling that the environmental pillars of existence and life are soon to crumble, and a non-specific concern about our relationship to the environment (Clayton, 2021). It is important to distinguish the non-pathological nature of most cases of ecological anxiety when discussing appropriate forms of treatment (Clayton, 2021; Ojala, 2022). Ecological anxiety has qualities that resemble anxiety, including uncontrollability, unpredictability, and uncertainty. Ecological anxiety, solving behaviors and attitudes. Ecological anxiety is a repeating cycle of

anxiety and denial and trying to stay aware without acknowledging the magnitude of the problem (Hogg et al., 2021; Maiteny, 2002; Panu, 2020).

Ojala (2022) further detailed the psychological impacts of climate change in their narrative review. Global climate change and other ecological issues decrease safety and security, leading to existential anxiety related to being severely disjointed from the natural world (Ojala, 2022). For some individuals, worries about global climate change are perceived on a macro level, with underlying elements of morality and ethics. These individuals do not worry as much about their own immediate lives as they do about people in distant areas of the world, nature and animals, and the future of humanity. This type of macro concern and way of thinking is more common among people with strong universal values and who greatly desire global justice, equality, peace, and the preservation of nature and animals. Politically left-leaning individuals share greater worry than those on the right. Hence, scientific knowledge plays a part in whether people worry, though other elements are related to individual aspects, including values and political affiliation (Ojala, 2022). Ojala (2022) stated that another way of thinking about anxiety and worry as it relates to the ecological crisis is from an existential lens, where worry and anxiety are seen as rational and productive reactions to threats that have the potential to harm personal values and provoke a sense of responsibility.

Panu (2020) remarked in their publication about how eco-anxiety resembles all versions of anxiety. They describe that eco-anxiety appears as worry and fear, though they are distinct. There is debate about what terminology is appropriate to distinguish severity levels of ecoanxiety. The social dissonance that occurs in communities is so strong and counterintuitive that commentators have named its phenomenon "socially constructed silence," where competing ideologies bifurcate groups and reinforce a lack of cohesion and communication (Norgaard,

2011, p. 82). Ojala (2022) has argued that worry about climate change anxiety can be seen as existential anxiety, as climate anxiety satisfies the three components of existential anxiety: the ontic piece, as it is a threat to the future and survival of humanity, as well as a direct threat to the well-being of some groups; the moral piece, as it relates to the morality about whether it is ethical for us to live this way in relation to nature and other human beings; and the spiritual piece, as it poses questions pertaining to whether there is any purpose in taking action on the individual level given the complexity and magnitude of the issue at hand. Scientists often more broadly refer to ecological anxiety as climate anxiety, where it encompasses a diverse range of anxious distressing psychological reactions to climate change (Clayton & Karazsia, 2020; Panu, 2020; Wu et al., 2020).

Larionow et al. (2022) found functional and cognitive impairment positively correlated with direct experience with climate change, environmental identity, behavioral engagement, and environmental motive, a person's personal values in the context of addressing climate change. Functional and cognitive impairment were also negatively correlated with a sense of safety and climate change denial, indicating that people with higher levels of climate anxiety experience lower levels of climate change denial and have more pro-environmental motivations and behaviors.

Ecological Grief

Ecological grief has been confirmed as a natural response to environmental loss, particularly in those who hold closer relationships with ecosystems and the natural world (Clark, 2020; Comtesse et al., 2021; Cunsolo & Ellis, 2018). Grief in response to ecological losses closely resembles ordinary grief patterns. Ecological grief is described as a normal response to death and the mourning process, including classic features of accepting the reality of the loss, processing the mental and somatic pain of loss, adjusting the external and internal world without the lost object, and finding connection with the lost object while emerging into a new life without it (Clayton, 2021). As grief will pervade many communities whose environments are facing or already enduring ecological collapse, the loss of norms and ability to depend on their environment will evoke a paradoxical reaction to experiencing PTSD symptoms in advance of perceived threats to the environment (Clark, 2020).

Cunsolo and Ellis (2018) discussed other definitions of ecological grief, including: "intense feelings of grief as people suffer climate-related losses to valued species, ecosystems, and landscapes" (p. 275). Cunsolo and Ellis (2018) reiterated current findings that global ecosystem productivity is in steep decline and the sixth mass extinction is already in effect. The authors' report describes the biosphere as a whole becoming permanently damaged by human activity. Cunsolo and Ellis stated that ecological grief is a normal response to ecological loss, especially for those whose lives and work are deeply connected to the environment. The authors noted that grieving and mourning can look many different ways for different people, cultures, and the nature of the situation. Ecological grief has been observed as a response to gradual, slow, and enduring ecological changes. These incremental changes are referred to by Nixon (2011) as "slow violence," which is not as visible due to the interactional nature and lack of identifying

precise precipitants (p. 11). The anticipated loss of future ecological offerings is closely related to the grief experienced over the loss of livelihoods, ways of life, and culture. Levels of ecological grief will vary with children and youth particularly impacted by growing up with increasing loss.

Cunsolo and Ellis (2018) described three overarching types of ecological grief: a) grief related to physical ecological loss, such as the decimation of landscapes, species, or ecosystems that are often due to acute events, such as natural disasters or as a response to long-term changes to weather patterns, landscape, or environments; b) grief as a response to the disruption of placebased knowledge and identity, including the loss of one's sense of self among landscapes, seasonal experiences, and in changing ecosystems; c) grief due to the expectation of future losses of ecosystems, organisms, and associated place-based knowledge, culture, and practice. Cunsolo and Ellis (2018) pointed out that bereavement and mourning can also raise questions about what we as humans choose to value, namely, what losses we choose to mourn, such as ecological loss.

Ojala (2022) discussed the features of ecological grief, including its many forms varying by location, geography, and culture. They add that ecological grief, as with ordinary grief, varies from person to person and can be expressed through a range of emotions, such as frustration, anger, stress, fear, distress, helplessness, hopelessness, and pre-and post-traumatic stress disorder. Ojala (2022) pointed out that ecological grief stems from feeling disenfranchised and that this type of mourning often goes unnoticed in sociocultural spaces and is not reflected in policy.

Clark (2020) described an "Anthropocene horror" in which this phrasing is used to describe a sense of terror about the evolving environment that is mediated by media outlets and

expert projections, fueling a sense of danger that may not originate from any one source, event, or place (p. 61). Clark noted that this is a well-known experience among environmental activists and scientists, though it is now permeating into the larger global population. Broadly speaking, scholars have described responses to climate change risks as, a) an active denial that prioritizes rationality over emotion with an inability to tolerate scientific uncertainty, b) a disinterest that externalizes the threat with fatalism, or c) engagement with emotional attunement to justify their thoughts and reactions, individual responsibility, and their belief in the ability of their community to handle their circumstances (Langford, 2002).

Marginalization and Climate Change Impacts

Marginalization can include personal experiences, a socially influenced process or outcome, or a condition that can present as part of a binary dominant or submissive group (Hall & Carlson, 2016). Gender differences reproduce climate change vulnerabilities and marginalization with more women enduring immobility challenges due to an intergenerational lack of resources that prevent them from migrating from uninhabitable areas (Bhadwal et al., 2019; Balikoowa et al., 2019; Lama et al., 2021). National policy to promote climate change adaptation does not consider women's intergenerational vulnerabilities where agricultural livelihoods are more common and where gender disparities prevent access to information, markets, technological advancements, and labor (Paudyal et al., 2019). Progress in climate change policy is occluded by gender assumptions that women are more nurturing and connected to nature, that gender equality is exclusively a women's issue, and that gender equality is measured quantitatively (Lau et al., 2021). People who are multiply marginalized are at a higher risk for negative climate change outcomes, and conversely, people who have multiple aspects of resilience can better withstand the effects of climate change (Versey, 2021). Small groups who have less political power experience disproportionate climate change impacts on their environment (Raleigh, 2010). Climate change vulnerability depends on one's access to needed resources, one's regional governmental policies or support, cultural interpretations of risk and loss, and one's level of knowledge about the issue (Thomas et al., 2019). Minoritized people with low income and people who are marginalized politically are more vulnerable to climate change, where shifts in major infrastructure cause significant health or economic adversity for diverse groups (Shonkoff et al., 2011). It is important to note that people who have marginalized identities are more vulnerable to climate change impacts, while having less capacity and resources to cope and adapt (Demetriades & Esplen, 2010).

Gaard (2015) discussed some of the restrictions that gender roles place on women and children, who endure more severe levels of poverty in the face of climate change. Gender role expectations can limit women's mobility, may be burdened with caregiving and food production responsibilities, and may be prevented from making climate-related decisions. Women in developing countries frequently endure the burden of climate change impacts through increased poverty such as having to travel further to retrieve water, supplies, or fuel. During food shortages, women are usually first to sacrifice their share of food to prevent children from going hungry. As desertification decreases food production, other economic difficulties will increase labor-based migration for the men in the households, which frequently yields unfulfilled promises. These women are left with additional caregiving, agricultural, and household duties with fewer resources to cope with seasonal and extreme weather events (Gaard, 2015).

Public Messaging About Climate Change

Persuasive messaging can shape perceptions and motivations to support proenvironmental actions (Bolsen & Shapiro, 2017; Druckman & McGrath, 2019; Hart & Feldman,

2016; Palm et al., 2020; van der Linden et al., 2017). When individuals consume communications that accentuate specific messaging about climate change, such as the prescription to engage in pro-environmental behavior or support candidates that endorse proclimate policies, they may focus on the highlighted message when processing their opinion. This may also shape their opinion in light of the message, a phenomenon referred to as the emphasis framing effect (Druckman, 2011; Palm et al., 2020). Thematic messaging, messaging that describes broader narratives of impacts related to climate change, can have weaker effects on an individual's likelihood to take meaningful action against climate change than episodic messaging or focusing on individual narratives of climate change impacts (Bolsen & Shapiro, 2017). Thematic messages are more effective at increasing government and political support for climate change compared to episodic messaging (Bolsen & Shapiro, 2017).

Hart and Feldman (2016) conducted a survey of 1,426 participants and examined the effects of text manipulation in news media on individual levels of internal efficacy, a pillar of psychological empowerment, concerning their acting on climate change. Text manipulations provided information about how likely participants were to believe in themselves (internal efficacy) or others (external efficacy) to take action on climate change. The results indicated that a single exposure to a news story including messages of positive internal efficacy increased a participant's perceptions about their own internal efficacy, while stories that depicted negative external efficacy lowered the participant's levels of perceived external efficacy. Narratives that discussed climate solutions with empowerment messaging, as well as impacts, had more positive effects than powerlessness messaging that only highlighted the impacts of climate change. The study demonstrated that there are indirect effects on individual action changes (such as the decision to conserve energy) that have resulted from more efficacious and action-oriented

messaging; however, the study was limited to the use of text versus visual imagery to appeal to climate change perceptions.

Palm et al. (2020) conducted a study that examined the effects of climate change messaging from various sources with six randomly assigned conditions that presented a message about climate change that included recommendations for individual actions, policy actions, messages endorsed by climate scientists, and a control condition with no source baseline. While the study highlighted the effects of behavioral change in response to climate change messaging, the messages presented did not have elements of powerlessness or empowerment but rather offered items that highlighted the source of climate change information and presented the crisis as both an environmental and a national security threat. Researchers found that regardless of the information's source, suggesting behavioral change limited individuals' willingness to alter their personal actions to mitigate carbon emissions, made them less likely to vote for pro-climate leaders, yielded fewer believing in the accelerated rate of climate change, and resulted in diminished trust in science (Palm et al., 2020). This highlights the ineffective nature of burdening individuals with the responsibility for behavioral change while not supporting their psychological capital with empowerment strategies.

Ironically, messaging efforts to reduce climate change denial can increase denial for certain populations (Dixon et al., 2017; Hart & Nisbet, 2012; Lewandowsky et al., 2015; Zhou, 2016). Climate change denial can increase when individuals need to make sense of new information shaped by their existing cultural, political, and personal predispositions (Dixon et al., 2017). Information that is inconsistent with an individual's existing beliefs is usually interpreted in a way that secures rather than changes their prior beliefs (Bolsen & Shapiro, 2017; Dixon et al., 2017; Lodge & Taber, 2013). Individuals who are less exposed to media coverage depicting

uncertainty about climate change are more likely to be open-minded about their views compared to those who had more exposure to media coverage with uncertainty messaging, indicating that the amount of exposure to skeptical messaging about climate change may have implications for behavioral change (Happer & Philo, 2015).

Ferguson and Schmitt (2021) discussed six types of climate change messaging that promote consumer sustainability including messages that 1) capture personal motivation, 2) promote pro-climate normativity, and 3) challenge individual resistance. Other types of messaging aim to increase collective effort to target the unsustainable citizens and leadership in favor of a more sustainable future: 4) identifying community problems, 5) increasing key transformational narratives, and 6) striving for stable peace (Ferguson & Schmitt, 2021). These types of messaging accentuate the value of individual experience while minding intergroup differences in efforts to combat climate change. This study aims to utilize messaging that targets identifying community problems, forming key transformational narratives, and striving for stable peace.

When considering the source of climate change messaging, research has shown that the influence of military leaders as a pro-climate resource can have positive benefits for the effects of climate change persuasion, particularly with the narrative of preserving national security in the United States (Bolsen et al., 2019). Contrarily, messaging delivered by climate scientists linked to national security threats significantly reduced participants' perceptions of the severity of climate change, reduced their support for policy changes, and minimized perceptions of a scientific consensus (Bolsen et al., 2019). Previous research has focused on uncertainty and denial in climate change messaging, however, further work is needed to examine whether specific empowerment and powerlessness messaging has influential effects on responses to

climate change. Examining empowerment and powerlessness messaging will provide a better understanding of its effects on how an individual internalizes those messages, assesses their own level of risk or danger, and what they do in response to that evaluation.

Empowerment Messaging on Climate Change

Psychological empowerment is the relationship between one's sense of self-efficacy and self-control in relation to their role, environment, and their environment's demands (Schermuly & Meyer, 2016). When analyzing ecological grief and ecological anxiety, it is important to consider mechanisms for change, including psychological empowerment, as a means to increase levels of adaptation and behavioral engagement. Empowerment has been found to contribute positively to the production of zai pits, small holes in the ground that are filled with seeds and compost for agricultural production, demonstrating that empowerment interventions can be independent and impactful on climate change adaptation at the individual level (Wouterse, 2017). With the adoption of zai pits, farmers can increase their agricultural yields and stimulate more food production for their families and communities (Wouterse, 2017). This process of empowering farmers benefits both the individual and the community by adapting to climate change in a way that produces a meaningful systemic shift. Furthermore, ecosystem-based adaptation has been enhanced by empowerment interventions which lead to a critical examination of power discourse, especially for marginalized groups whose access, agency, and hopes are conditioned by social infrastructure that may be hindered by a current lack of adaptation choices (Woroniecki, 2020). Greater psychological empowerment increases levels of adaptation and resilience among migrants, which benefits individual well-being and improves access to resources, engagement, self-efficacy, and feeling in control of one's situation (Cakir & Yerin Guneri, 2011; Prilleltensky et al., 2001).

Psychological empowerment has been found to lead to innovative behaviors in the workplace and higher levels of flexibility among employees (Amor et al., 2021; Malik et al., 2021; Muduli & Pandya, 2018). An individual's sense of self-determination, fueled by empowerment, is an intrinsic motivator that encourages them to participate in an organization flexibly (Muduli & Pandya, 2018). Psychological capital, including hope, resilience, self-efficacy, and optimism, serves a mediating role between psychological empowerment and job satisfaction, employee turnover, and commitment to one's role (Shah et al., 2019). When psychological needs are satisfied and there are higher levels of psychological capital, employees are more likely to be intrinsically motivated, engaged, and are more likely to exhibit proactive work behaviors (Shah et al., 2019). Psychological empowerment, with work engagement and structural empowerment, with work engagement positively associated with task performance and negatively associated with intentions to quit their job (Amor et al., 2021).

According to Keiffer (1984), empowerment manifests at three different psychosocial levels: the personal, the small group, and the community levels. On the personal level, empowerment leads to people gaining more control and agency over their daily lives and engagement with the community (Keiffer, 1984). At the small group level, empowerment shapes interpersonal experiences, understanding, and influences the effort made by the small group (Lord & Hutchison, 1993; Presby et al., 1990). On the community level, empowerment involves the implementation of these efforts and the strategies used to reinforce community control (Labonte, 1989; Lord & Hutchison, 1993). Empowerment is a process developed through the dimensions of these psychosocial levels of interaction.

Conger and Kanungo (1988) discussed psychological empowerment as two different constructs: as a relational and a motivational construct. Empowerment as a relational construct is described as an individual's sense of power over themselves and having power over others. In this system, the dependence and interdependence of individuals have implications for who has power and who does not. If individual A depends on individual B more than individual B depends on individual A, then individual B has more power and agency than individual A. This power discrepancy becomes relevant when power is the function of how dependent or independent individuals are on one another to produce a cooperative outcome. When thinking about power differentials and who is disproportionately affected by climate change, those who are most vulnerable depend on those in power to make structural decisions that will counteract climate change and its residual effects on vulnerable populations. Conger and Kanungo discussed empowerment as a motivational construct where power is an external motivator and an individual's power needs are met when they feel secure in their resources and ability to handle their circumstances. Conger and Kanungo described empowerment as the motivational machinery behind self-efficacy.

Spreitzer (1995) discussed four components of motivationally driven empowerment, including meaning, competence, self-determination, and impact. Meaning is what gives an individual a sense of purpose and intention behind their actions or work relative to their personal values and experiences. Competence is often used interchangeably with self-efficacy in the literature; Spreitzer (1995) described it as an individual's ability to perform activities with skill and proficiency. Self-determination is described as an individual's sense of choice and autonomy in initiating and attending to the environment's demands. Impact is defined as the individual's sense of influence on the completion and success of satisfying the environment's demands.

These attributes are said to be manifestations of an active rather than passive approach to meeting the environment's demands.

When looking at transformational leadership, Pieterse et al. (2010) described psychologically empowered people as self-efficacious and able to sufficiently influence their work environment in significant ways, promote proactive behavior, exhibit initiative, and are able to act independently. The authors noted that transformational leadership may spark innovation, though individuals require the need to feel able to take the initiative to innovate via psychological empowerment. The study revealed that psychological empowerment was found to be a moderator in the relationship of innovative behavior in both transformational and transactional leadership indicating that psychological empowerment is the fuel needed to incite motivational change.

Empowerment is known to be a powerful mechanism to facilitate behavioral change (Muduli & Pandya, 2018; Shah et al., 2019; Smith & Rule; 2016; Ting & Carter, 1992). Empowerment may be sourced through social support, spirituality, self-compassion, or behavioral health services (Ting & Carter, 1992). Individuals who volunteer regularly with groups report feeling less powerless and having more favorable attitudes toward non-profit organizations and toward helping behaviors (Zboja et al., 2020). In an effort to promote empowerment, one might consider pleasurable and less harmful behaviors to replace problematic or environmentally harmful behaviors. Failure to adapt may be a result of overemphasizing messages of lifestyle compromises, perpetuating attitudes of helplessness, and inaccessibility of resources. Empowerment has been found to be particularly impactful for marginalized communities (Ting & Carter, 1992).

Empowerment may be facilitated by promoting organizational culture by encouraging the involvement and participation of the community and electing policy that appropriately reflects an individual's resources and ability to meet their demands while simultaneously providing social support (Amor et al., 2021; Malik et al., 2021; Muduli & Pandya, 2018). Torp et al. (2011) defined empowerment as a construct that associates individual strengths and skills, resources for help, and proactive attitudes to issues of social policy and change (Torp et al., 2011). This process helps an individual gain control over their own life and their level of engagement in the community (Torp et al., 2011). Torp et al. (2011) discussed elements of empowerment, including the theme of opposition and its aim to support groups and individuals as they acquire the strength to change their circumstances that reinforce powerlessness. The authors highlight empowerment as a function of liberal strategy whereby individuals are viewed autonomously and tasked with both the responsibility and capability to make their own decisions. These pillars of empowerment serve to balance an individual's environmental demands, their sense of control, and external support from their community and leaders (Torp et al., 2011).

Powerlessness to Climate Change Messages

Power is a social construct that influences the pursuit of goals both at the individual and systemic levels. Having power contributes to self-regulatory functions and goal-oriented behavior while having a lack of power has been shown to inhibit those psychological processes (Albalooshi et al., 2020). Power is the level of control over needed resources and outcomes (Fiske, 2010). A lack of power can impede executive functioning, a combination of cognitive processes that guide decision-making and goal-directed behavior, resulting in a performance discrepancy between the powerless and those with power (Albalooshi et al., 2020). Attending to this discrepancy becomes key when considering that the number of powerless people outnumbers

those who are powerful, and it is more likely that an individual will encounter circumstances that will induce feelings of powerlessness in daily life.

Experiences of social rejection decrease an individual's sense of power, while social acceptance does not effectively remedy this experience of rejection (Kim et al., 2019). Self-affirmation has been shown to be a positive coping strategy for people who feel powerless in one life domain whereby they will compensate by channeling power in another life domain (Ge et al., 2020). This compensation increases an individual's feelings of adequacy which can act as a buffer for other distressing psychological hazards. Self-affirmation improves inhibitory control in those who are powerless, a key ingredient for self-efficacy and the pursuit of goals. Therefore, reinstating self-efficacy via self-affirmation has been shown to counteract the impaired inhibitory control of the powerless and mitigate the response gap between the powerful and the powerless (Albalooshi et al., 2020).

Williams and Jaftha (2020) conducted a study that examined the effects of feelings of powerlessness on climate change action (Williams & Jaftha, 2020). The researchers discussed the commons dilemma, whereby the benefits of a certain action are advantageous to the individual performing the action (Williams & Jaftha, 2020). This may contrast the cost of an action that is not solely endured by an individual but rather shared among the whole community (Williams & Jaftha, 2020). Individuals may dismiss this undue harm to others and choose to proceed with the action that will cause harm for everyone and provide short-term satisfaction for the individual. As powerlessness and the commons dilemma are separate constructs, Aitken et al. (2011) concluded in their study that powerlessness involves the questioning of whether an individual has the ability to make a difference, whereas perceptions of the commons dilemma imply an unwillingness to change their behavior unless others do (Aitken et al., 2011). This

highlights the resulting belief that individual contributions are fruitless efforts for change due to others' inaction.

Environmental attitudes are influenced by an individual's emotions, interests, knowledge, and social context (Gifford & Sussman, 2012). These individual characteristics influence pessimistic beliefs about the environment as well as their willingness to take pro-environmental action (Aitken et al., 2011; Haller & Hadler, 2008; Williams & Jaftha, 2020). In the individual's social context, the level of political centralization, affluent traits, the presence of pro-environmental values and political affiliation, and the severity of pollution in their environment were found to influence environmental fatalism (Haller & Hadler, 2008). The more informed an individual is, the less powerless to climate change they felt, indicating that there are educational implications in others' experiences of powerlessness (Aitken et al., 2011).

Though powerlessness is a common experience for many, most research has focused on the problems associated with an excess of power. For people who report higher levels of wealth than power, power was found to have less influence on psychological well-being compared to those with a reported higher power versus wealth status (Jin et al., 2019). This evidence indicates that having power is more significant to psychological well-being than obtaining wealth and that having wealth does not satisfy all power needs. A lack of power decreases direct anger expression, making individuals more likely to share their anger with others rather than direct it towards the source of their distress (Petkanopoulou et al., 2019). Findings illustrating the inhibitory nature of powerlessness have stimulated discussion on how the experience of powerlessness shapes an individual's psychosocial perceptions and behaviors. Foulk et al. (2020) conducted a study to explore Social Distance Theory as a method to develop a model to depict the experience of powerlessness as it decreases social closeness and further causes social

disengagement. The model was designed to shed light on the processes that cause feelings of powerlessness that subsequently diminish social closeness, demonstrating that an individual's motivation and their social expectations of others' interests highlight this relationship. By investigating these organizational elements of powerlessness through Social Distance Theory, the model helped to clarify the relationship between experienced powerlessness and perceived social closeness. Feelings of powerlessness can mitigate an individual's perceived social closeness by diminishing motivation to affiliate with others in their social group as well as by decreasing their expectations of their peers' interest in affiliation (Foulk et al., 2020; Loy & Spence, 2020). People who measure high in social distance report feeling that developing countries will experience more devastating climate impacts than their own developed country, while those who are low in the social distance feel that people who have similar identities will also face equally harsh devastation as a result of climate change (Spence et al., 2012).

The social proximity of climate change perceptions has implications for how and how soon an individual will respond to climate change with meaningful action (Loy & Spence, 2020). Feelings of powerlessness are negatively correlated with responding to climate change with action (Aitken, 2009; Keller et al., 2022; Williams & Jahfta, 2020), and experiencing powerlessness is associated with de-emphasizing the importance of acting on climate change (Williams & Jahfta, 2020). When news media features climate change issues, many report feeling that the ecological crisis was a problem too big for individual action to have a significant impact on climate change (Aitken et al., 2011; Harrison et al., 1996). This may be due to a lack of information about what sorts of individual changes will have a relatively significant impact at the individual level and whether these small individual contributions (recycling, reducing, conserving) are more significant to psychological well-being than participation in collective

strategies to implement larger changes, such as voting for policy or legislation. Promoting empowerment requires both instilling positive encouragement and self-efficacy as well as offering practical and accessible strategies to make a difference.

Diasporic Puerto Rican anthropologist Hilda Lloréns (2018) reported the devastating impacts of Hurricane Maria, discussing the detailed imagery of crumbling architecture, homes, the electric grid, and apocalyptic scenes of unfettered destruction. News media portrayed aerial views of the massive hurricane, people being rescued from waters deep enough to swallow homes and vehicles, and the desperation of Puerto Ricans who were without basic resources for days, weeks, and months at a time. Lloréns emphasized the culturally traumatic nature of this imagery not only for the haunting implications of environmental demise but for the years and decades of neglect by the U.S. government which has effectively left Puerto Ricans to fend for themselves, exacerbating the psychosocial impacts of the extreme weather event. Through a series of interviews with Puerto Rican survivors of Hurricane Maria, citizens described their response to the imagery as sad, extremely sad, helpless distraught, devastated, pained, sorrowful, anguished, impotent, shocked, and horrified (Lloréns, 2018). Harrowing depictions of extreme weather events and the effects of climate change can have intersectional impacts on those with marginalized identities, further complicating feelings of powerlessness. The overwhelming negativity surrounding climate change news coverage incites feelings of powerlessness, hopelessness, and helplessness, which requires further exploration.

Visual and Written Stimuli

Clayton and Karazsia (2020) examined the effects of written empowerment and powerlessness narratives on psychological adaptation. The results indicated that there is a weak relationship between empowerment narratives and climate change anxiety when controlling for

climate change experience. Climate change anxiety scores, including several items surveying experience with climate change, were higher in the empowerment group, highlighting the importance of having prior experience with climate change in order to feel empowered to address it. With the positive relationship between climate change experience and psychological adaptation, this study supports the need for there to be direct experience with climate change in order for the relationship to be significant.

Rashotte (2002) discussed Affect Control Theory as it applies to the effectiveness of different perceptions of visual and written stimuli. Affect Control Theory is an interactionist framework that proposes that individuals act in social situations and serve as observers of social situations while attaching cultural significance to the various aspects of those social situations (e.g., behaviors, settings, objects, actors, etc.). Individuals will seek information in these interactions that will guide their personal understanding of the exchange. Affect Control Theory applies this logic and accounts for the information received in social interaction. Rashotte (2002) found that video presentations revealed a more simplified, easily interpreted illustration of actors and their behaviors than the written stimuli did in each trial. The author discussed that the attitudes of an actor's behavior are more clarified in the video presentations and that witnesses do not require as much additional information as readers of information do. For the object-person relationship, however, observers of the video messaging employed the same information as the readers of information to evaluate while adding an evaluation of nonverbal cues. They discussed that the attitudes of an actor's behavior are more clarified in the video presentations and that witnesses do not require as much additional information as readers of information do. For the object-person relationship, however, observers of the video messaging employed the same

information as the readers of information to evaluate while adding an evaluation of nonverbal cues.

Barromi Perlman (2016) found that the use of visual stimuli in the form of photography provided greater levels of empowerment than written syntax in students who were assigned a reflective diary project which required observation, introspection, and articulation of their thoughts and ideas. The students were able to absorb the sensations and perceptions of the people, places, and things being photographed. The visual depiction of people, places, and things was shown to have a more significant effect than the primarily written stimuli issued by teachers (Barromi Perlman, 2016; Rashotte, 2002).

Understanding the mechanisms for meaning making of visual and written messaging can provide researchers, educators, and practitioners with a direction to focus their messaging targets ranging from news media to clinical care. Falihi and Wason-Ellam (2009) discussed the differences between visual and verbal literacy, stating that a learner makes sense of all elements presented by interpreting and negotiating the relationships and attachments between each element, including color, shape, line, and texture by which one discerns its meaning. Hence, meaning cannot be assigned unless the context is considered. Furthermore, an individual's subjective experiences, memories, and their own cultural values are a lens through which meaning is assigned to what is being viewed. Similar to reading comprehension and verbal literacy, recognition of imagery is the mechanism that drives visual literacy (Falihi & Wason-Ellam, 2009). Visual literacy is an important concept to evaluate when discussing effective strategies to promote personal significance in response to climate change messages.

Taken together, as empowerment strategies lead to effective behavioral change, it is important to review the effectiveness of visual empowerment and powerlessness messaging in

addition to the already tested methodology of written stimuli. Clayton and Karazsia (2020) have recommended that empowerment and powerlessness conditions be examined as they inform psychological adaptation. Adding visual representations to climate change messaging and modifying the order of stimuli presented may prevent framing biases and order effects in the sample of participants.

Clayton and Karazsia (2020) have proposed that future researchers should consider reframing the empowerment and powerlessness conditions of stimuli presented in order to produce greater effects on psychological adaptation. While a written message priming the conditions for empowerment and powerlessness yielded insignificant results, Clayton and Karazsia (2020) have speculated that visual representations may have the potential to produce more significant effects on psychological adaptation as opposed to written stimuli.

Psychological Adaptation

In the earlier days of climate change policy discourse, more focus was placed on mitigating greenhouse gas emissions, while expert suggestions to promote adaptation were vehemently opposed (Pielke et al., 2007). Psychological adaptation is a range of reactions that address new situations, emotional responses, cognitive processes, detachment, formulating protective responses, and may help with emotional regulation (Reser & Swim, 2011). Psychological adaptation can look differently depending on the individual, though it is a vital process needed to maintain psychological well-being (Aronsson & Schöb, 2018; Diener et al., 2006; Frederick & Loewenstein, 1999; Lucas, 2007; Luhmann et al., 2012; Lyubormirsky, 2011). Adapting to climate change is an evolving process that involves external appraisals that influence preparative responses to the harmful effects of climate change which includes acute disasters as well as chronic ecological changes over time (American Psychological Association

Task Force on the Interface between Psychology and Global Climate Change, 2009). These psychological processes aim to make sense of the world with the anticipation of impacts, resources needed, the use of coping strategies, and their own emotional reactions (Swim et al., 2011). Psychological adaptation motivates an individual to provide oneself with security, clarity, stability, and control over their situation (Swim et al., 2011).

Psychological adaptation has variations in its presentation. Qing et al. (2021) discussed disaster preparedness in the farming community, which had a significantly positive effect on individual well-being, overall health, and life satisfaction. They found that farmers who have better prepared for disaster will perceive the lowest risk compared to farmers who do not prepare for natural disasters (Qing et al., 2021). The perception of estimated risk for disaster was found to be a mediating factor that will determine to what extent the farmer's preparation for a disaster impact will have on their overall health and psychological well-being (Qing et al., 2021). This finding highlights the individual variation in psychologically adaptive processes for vulnerable groups.

Mental health professionals can care for climate change impacts while inspiring proactive coping responses (Macy & Brown, 1998; Randall, 2009; Seaman, 2016). Emotional reactions, a sense of self-efficacy and responsibility, and the subsequent psychological adaptation responses to climate change can be recognized as intertwined components of an individual's global psychological response (Brewer, 2008; Norgaard, 2011; Reser & Swim, 2011; Palinkas & Wong, 2020; Tam et al., 2021). Psychological adaptation is a series of affective, cognitive, and motivational processes that require becoming more attuned to the climate crisis, resulting in increased recognition of its reality and risks, assuming a problem-solving approach, and evolving into a more pro-environmental way of life (Bradley et al., 2020). Psychological adaptation

involves reprocessing and cognitive reorientation that results in a desire to take responsibility to help counteract climate change (Bradley et al., 2020). The psychological adaptation process serves a mediating role in whether an individual will choose to engage in collective environmentally significant actions (National Research Council, 2008, Weber & Stern, 2011).

Humans are more likely to be motivated to perform adaptation behaviors when it is to their own individual advantage (Bechtolt et al., 2021). A person's attitudes and beliefs about climate change play an important role in their psychologically adaptive processes, which is partially informed in conjunction with how they perceive themselves in relation to climate change threats (Bechtolt et al., 2021). External appraisals give an individual unique insight into whether their adaptive actions will be successful in protecting themselves from climate-related hazards, and their own levels of self-efficacy will determine if they feel capable of performing those actions (Van Valkengoed & Steg, 2019). Meta-analytical data suggests that it is predominantly negative emotions that are catalysts for psychologically adaptive behaviors, namely, guilt, anger, and fear (Van Valkengoed & Steg, 2019). Other elements that inform an individual's adaptive behaviors include social norms and perceived level of responsibility (Bechtolt et al., 2021). Taken together, psychological adaptation is a dynamic process that is an individual's unique method of action to cope or otherwise fail to cope with their circumstances.

Summary and Rationale for Proposed Study

The proposed study is timely given the devastating and wide-ranging impacts of global climate change. Those affected by climate change are likely to experience migration, food, and water shortages, loss of their home, and extreme weather conditions (Clayton, 2021; Costello et al., 2009; Few, 2007; Fritze et al., 2008; Page & Howard, 2010). Individuals are also likely to experience indirect impacts including violence, between-group conflict, mental health

challenges, and loss of trust in leadership (Anderson, 2001; Clayton, 2021; Costello et al., 2009; Reuveny, 2008). In the United States, most Americans have expressed their interest in climate change, with nearly half of the population reporting feeling helpless, disgusted, sad, and in some cases hopeful (Lawrance et al., 2022; Maibach et al., 2009).

Climate change denial can serve as social permission to avoid action as well as a coping tool, which can change the perception of one's experience with climate change depending on perceived distress or threat (Norgaard, 2011; Vaillant, 2000). Some individuals may find it difficult to accept the truth of climate change, because it would warrant them to confront a potentially life-threatening risk that may require them to make significant changes to their lives (Ojala, 2022). Responses to climate change hazards can appear as an active denial where rationality occludes emotional reactions, creating intolerance of scientific uncertainty (Langford, 2002). Denialism may also appear as a disinterest that resigns climate change risks with fatalism or the notion that fate is predetermined and out of individual control (Langford, 2002).

For some, concerns about climate change occur on a broader level with underlying sentiments of ethical and moral considerations (Ojala, 2022). These individuals may not worry as much about their own personal life or well-being as much as they do about other places in the world, nature, animals, and the future of life on Earth (Ojala, 2022). Ecological anxiety is a continuous cycle of denial and anxiety that occurs while trying to stay attuned without reconciling with the magnitude of climate change (Hogg et al., 2021; Maiteny, 2002; Panu, 2020).

Given the novelty of climate change and mental health research, much work is left to be done in the way of examining the effects of empowerment and powerlessness messaging on psychological adaptation to climate change (Clayton & Karazsia, 2020). Interdisciplinary

conversations have sparked recognition of the socioemotional responses to climate change, the assumed responsibility and self-efficacy of individuals, and the related psychological adaptation processes that humans undergo. These are intertwined elements of psychological responses to climate related disasters that must be considered with further study (Brewer, 2008; Norgaard, 2011; Reser & Swim, 2011; Tam et al., 2021).

As visual stimuli produce more effective meaning-making outcomes that shape personal significance compared to written stimuli, I explored this phenomenon as it occurs in psychologically adaptive processes (Rashotte, 2002). I sought key information while examining powerlessness and empowerment messaging in climate change perceptions regarding how to promote pro-environmental psychological adaptation. Promoting empowerment at the individual level may give them a sense of self-efficacy, self-affirmation, and motivation to change their behavior in a way that is cohesive with overall well-being and collective survival while policy changes are slow to be implemented. There is limited research examining the relationship between climate change messages of empowerment and powerlessness, and how they affect psychological adaptation. This study bridges the gap between these constructs, identifies whether climate change denial moderates this effect, whether climate anxiety strengthens the effect of empowerment or powerlessness, and whether people with multiple marginalized identities experience higher levels of climate anxiety.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

To address the gaps in the literature, the current study examined the following research questions.

RQ1: Does climate change denial moderate the relationship between messaging about climate change and an individual's psychological adaptation?

H1_o for RQ1: Climate change denial moderates the relationship between messaging about climate change and psychological adaptation. Specifically, the effect of messaging on psychological adaptation are stronger for individuals with lower levels of climate change denial compared to those with higher levels.

RQ2: Are individuals with climate anxiety more susceptible to the effects of visual empowerment and powerlessness messaging?

H1_o for RQ2: Relative to those who are lower in climate anxiety, those with higher levels of climate anxiety will endorse a stronger relationship between empowerment and psychological adaptation.

 $H2_{o}$ for RQ2: Relative to those who are lower in climate anxiety, those with higher levels of climate anxiety will endorse a stronger relationship between powerlessness and psychological adaptation.

RQ3: Do people with multiple marginalized identities experience higher rates of climate change anxiety?

H1_o for RQ3: People who have multiple marginalized identities experience higher rates of climate change anxiety.

CHAPTER III

METHODS

Participants

G*Power was used to conduct a power analysis to ensure that a sufficient number of participants were sampled for the statistical method. The significance level was set to .05 and the probability level was set to .80 which resulted in a sample of 115 participants. A total of 36 participants were recruited through SONA, an online undergraduate recruitment system for a public university primarily for women in a Southwestern state. Social media platforms such as Instagram, Facebook, and Reddit.com were also used for recruitment. As right-wing individuals are more likely to deny climate change (Hultman et al., 2019), recruitment attempted to oversample Republican-identified persons to achieve a statistically balanced representation of political affiliations. This was done by posting the recruitment flyer to Republican interest forums via Reddit.com. Prolific, a crowdsourcing platform for issuing contract jobs, was used for additional recruitment. Participants from SONA were provided .5 hours of SONA credit for their response, Prolific participants were given \$4 for their response, and social media participants were entered into a raffle for two \$50 Amazon gift cards upon responding to the survey. All adults ages 18 and over were eligible to participate.

Procedure

Once IRB approved the proposal, participants were recruited (Appendix A) and were provided access to the survey (Appendix B). Participants were asked to review and complete the informed consent document (Appendix C) and demographic form (Appendix D) prior to responding to the survey. Participants were randomly assigned to one of two video messaging conditions (Appendix E) for empowerment and powerlessness messaging. The empowerment

condition featured protests led by a national organization for climate advocacy, Sunrise Movement. The empowerment condition included clips discussing climate change super solutions, bipartisanship, and advocacy. The powerlessness condition featured a compilation of climate disasters and the visible effects of climate change with video clips of news stories narrating the harrowing impacts of extreme climate events. Following the film, participants completed a climate change denial questionnaire (Appendix F) to collect information about their levels of climate change denial using a five-item scale from McCright and Dunlap (2011). Once the Climate Change Denial (CCD) scale was completed, participants completed the 22-item Climate Anxiety Scale (CAS) developed by Clayton & Karazsia (2020; see Appendix G) and the 7-item Psychological Adaptation Scale (PAS) developed by Reser et al., (2012; see Appendix H).

Measures

Demographic Form

The demographic form asked questions about the participant's gender identity, age, and race/ethnicity to evaluate whether participants had two or more marginalized identities. Other questions inquired about the participant's household income, immigration status, number of dependents, level of education, and employment status. Additional questions were presented about identity factors such as political affiliation, the desire to have children, and whether one has direct experience with climate change. The demographic items were chosen to assess for various areas of marginalization, and I used this measure to compare mean levels of climate anxiety across groups.

Experience with Climate Change

Participants' experience with climate change (EXP) was assessed with questions in both the demographic form and as part of a subscale in the Climate Anxiety Scale (CAS). Experience with climate change was assessed with yes/no demographic items such as, "Have you ever experienced an extreme weather event or a natural disaster?" and "Have you ever had to relocate as a result of a natural disaster or extreme weather event?" Items capturing experience with climate change on the CAS include, "I have been directly affected by climate change," and "I know someone who has been directly affected by climate change," and are scored using a 7-point Likert scale. To calculate scores for experience with climate change, items 15-17 of the demographic form were recoded into a new variable. Items 14-16 of the CAS were recoded into a new variable. EXP was calculated by averaging the scores of the recoded demographic items and the CAS subscale scores across all items, which yielded a Cronbach's alpha of .54.

Empowerment and Powerlessness Messaging

Participants were randomly assigned and presented with either an empowering or powerlessness message film condition. The 1-minute and 48-second empowerment video featured climate change protest footage with inspiring messages of encouragement, inspiration, and empowerment with intermittent clips of news stories that feature climate change solutions, activism, and a tone of optimism. The powerlessness condition featured a 1-minute, 55-second compilation of climate change catastrophes with intermittent clips of news media depicting defeat, doom, and powerlessness amid the perilous conditions.

Climate Change Denial

Climate change denial was assessed using the Climate Change Denial Scale (CCD), a five-item scale from McCright and Dunlap (2011). The scale, previously used in research (McCright & Dunlap, 2011), includes five dichotomous items to evaluate beliefs about climate change and attitudes about the climate science community where a rating of one indicates the presence of denial and a zero indicates no presence of denial. I assessed the reliability of the scale with a Cronbach's alpha of .73, which demonstrated an acceptable range for reliability. Items such as "The effects of GW [global warming] will never happen" and "The seriousness of GW [global warming] is generally exaggerated in the media" are included in the scale. A moderation analysis was used to test whether climate change denial serves as a mediator between climate change messaging and levels of psychological adaptation.

Climate Anxiety

Climate change anxiety was measured using the Climate Anxiety Scale (CAS; Clayton & Karazsia, 2020), a 22-item questionnaire. The scale includes the following subscales: cognitiveemotional impairment (items 1-8), functional impairment (items 9-13), experience with climate change (items 14-16), and behavioral engagement (items 17-22). Items were rated on a 5-point Likert scale with 1 indicating "never" and a 5 indicating "almost always." Each subscale was scored by averaging the scores across all items within each subscale. High scores for each subscale indicate high levels of cognitive-emotional impairments, functional impairment, experience with climate change, and behavioral engagement respectively. Clayton and Karazsia (2020) did not report the measure's internal consistency, although the current sample yielded a Cronbach's alpha of .91, indicating high internal consistency and reliability.

Psychological Adaptation

Psychological adaptation was measured using the Psychological Adaptation Scale (PAS) adapted 7-item true or false coping scale from Reser et al. (2012), with a Cronbach's alpha of .93. Sample items include, "I have changed the way I think about the seriousness of environmental problems because of climate change," and "I tend to think differently these days about what is acceptable and sustainable and not acceptable with respect to consumer products and packaging, and consumption in general." Psychological adaptation is calculated by averaging scores across all items. High scores indicate higher levels of psychological adaptation. A moderation analysis was used to examine whether climate change denial moderates the interactions between empowerment and powerlessness messaging on levels of psychological adaptation. The sample pool yielded a Cronbach's alpha of .93 for the CAS, suggesting good internal consistency and reliability.

Statistical Analysis

In this study, I aimed to answer three questions: 1) Does climate change denial moderate the relationship between messaging about climate change and an individual's psychological adaptation? 2) Are individuals with climate anxiety more susceptible to the effects of visual empowerment and powerlessness messaging? 3) Do people with multiple marginalized identities experience higher rates of climate change anxiety?

Research Question One

I expected to find that higher levels of climate change denial would influence the proposed effect of the empowerment condition. Specifically, I expected that the empowerment condition would have a positive effect on psychological adaptation and the powerlessness condition would have a negative effect on psychological adaptation. A multiple regression

analysis was utilized to examine whether climate change denial influenced the effects of climate change messaging on levels of psychological adaptation. I conducted the regression with an interaction term (climate change denial x film condition) while controlling for personal experience with climate change. Climate change denial items were recoded where "True" is a 1 and "False" is a 0. The scores of all items were added together where higher scores indicated higher levels of climate change denial and lower scores indicated lower levels of climate change denial. The mean of the dependent variable psychological adaptation and moderating variables (climate change denial and the film condition) were centered to reduce multicollinearity and to help with interpretation. The independence of residuals was assessed utilizing a Durbin-Watson statistic. SPSS was used to estimate the coefficients (β values) for each term in the model, including the interaction term. *P*-values and effect size were also calculated.

Research Question Two

To explore whether climate change anxiety exacerbated the proposed effect of the film conditions on psychological adaptation, I used a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) to compare means. The analysis included psychological adaptation as the dependent variable, the film conditions as the independent variable, and climate change anxiety as a varying factor. I expected that the film condition would have a greater impact on psychological adaption for individuals reporting higher climate anxiety. Assumptions were checked for independence of each of the film conditions, normality of model residuals, and homogeneity of variance.

Research Question Three

To test whether individuals with more than one marginalized identity were more greatly impacted by climate change anxiety, I utilized an independent samples *t*-test to compare means. It was proposed that individuals with more than one marginalized identity would experience
higher levels of climate change anxiety. Assumptions were checked to ensure continuity, distribution, and homogeneity of variance. Participants who reported living most of their lives in the United States and had two or more marginalized identities were placed in the "Yes" group and those who had one or fewer marginalized identities were placed in the "No" group. Participants outside the U.S. were not included as income and immigration status were specific to the United States. Participants were categorized as marginalized if they had two or more of the following identities: minoritized gender, race and ethnicity, immigration status, income, and education. Specifically, those who identified as a "Man" were coded for non-marginalization and all other gender responses were coded as marginalized. All BIPOC individuals were coded as marginalized and White respondents were coded as non-marginalized. All non-U.S. citizens were coded as marginalized, and all U.S. citizens were coded as non-marginalized. Income was calculated by including all who made less than \$30,000 and those with more than two dependents who made less than \$70,000. Individuals' income was evaluated based on the US Consensus Bureau's report Poverty in the United States: 2022 (2023). All participants who had up to a high school education were coded as marginalized and those who had education beyond high school were coded as non-marginalized. Due to the limited variability in age, age was not included in this analysis.

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

A total of 144 participants were recruited for the study. Duplicate cases were removed, responses that were shorter than 4 minutes in duration, scale responses that reflected zero variance, responses that had impossible values, and those who did not consent were removed from the dataset. Outliers were identified using a box and whiskers plot that were outside of the 3rd IQR. Once the data-cleaning process was completed and outliers were removed, the pool yielded 131 participants. For the participants who completed demographic information, 47.7% (n = 62) identified as men, 50.4% (n = 66) as women, .8% (n = 1) as non-binary, and (n = 1) .8% as transgender. Most participants identified as White (42%; n = 55), followed by Hispanic or Latiné (22.9%; n = 30), Black or African American (21.4%; n = 28), Asian American or Other Pacific Islander (9.2%; n = 12), multiracial (.8%; n = 1), American Indian or Alaska Native (.8%; n = 1), and individuals who chose to self-described (1.5%; n = 2). A total of 19.1% (n = 25) participants reported they finished high school or earned a GED, some college 24.4% (n = 32), associate degree 5.3% (n = 7), trade or technical degree 2.3% (n = 3), bachelor's degree 36.6% (n = 48), Master's degree 9.2% (n = 12), and Ph.D. or equivalent 2.3% (n = 3).

Due to participant non-response, not all groups within each demographic variable added up to 100%. A multinational pool of participants was recruited by setting parameters within the Prolific recruitment tool to not restrict nationality. The interpretation of these analyses may be limited due to differences in language which were not assessed. The demographic form further clarified nationality by inquiring about what nation the participant has spent most of their life in. The following countries had five or more responses: United States (n = 48), South Africa (n =19), Poland (n = 7), United Kingdom (n = 5), Portugal (n = 6), Canada (n = 7), and Mexico (n = 13). Other responses were received from Greece (n = 1), Zimbabwe (n = 1), Italy (n = 2), Slovenia (n = 1), Chile (n = 1), Japan (n = 1), Venezuela (n = 1), New Zealand (n = 2), Australia (n = 2), The Netherlands (n = 1), Nigeria (n = 1), Egypt (n = 1), Spain (n = 1), Trinidad (n = 1), and Israel (n = 1). Details of participant demographics are included in Tables 1-2. Table 3 only includes participant data for those who indicated spending the majority of their life in the United States.

Table 1

Income and Employment Status					
Characteristic	п	%			
Household Income					
Less than \$13,000	13	9.9			
\$13,000-\$30,000	39	29.8			
\$30,000-\$55,000	31	23.7			
\$55,000-\$70,000	18	13.7			
\$70,000-\$95,000	13	9.9			
\$100,000+	16	12.2			
Employment					
Unemployed or employed	20	6			
Part-time	22	16			
Full-time	50	60			
Student	38	18			

Table 2

Dependents and Social Support							
Characteristic <i>n</i> %							
Number of Dependents							
0	34	26					
1-2	50	38.2					
3-4	35	26.7					
4-5	7	5.3					
6+	3	2.3					
Social Support							
Poor	5	3.8					
Fair	54	41.2					
Good	55	42					
Excellent	16	12.2					
Have children							
Yes	23	17.6					
No	107	81.7					
Want children							
Yes 91 69.5							
No	38	29.8					

Table 3

Immigration Status and Political Affiliation for U.S. participants							
Characteristic	Ν	%					
Immigration Status							
U.S. citizen	44	93.6					
U.S. resident	2	4.3					
Immigrant	1	2.1					
Undocumented	0	0					
Prefer not to say	0	0					
Political Affiliation							
Republican	9	19.1					
Democrat	23	48.9					
Libertarian	2	4.3					
Independent	7	14.9					
Apolitical	6	12.8					

Statistical Analyses

Research Question One

IBM Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 28.0.1.0. (142) was used to run the analyses. To determine whether climate change denial (CCD) moderated the effect of the film condition (CON) on psychological adaptation (PAS) while controlling for experiences with climate change (EXP), a regression analysis was used to identify if there was a conditional relationship. I proposed that higher levels of climate change denial would reduce the proposed effect of the film conditions on psychological adaptation. Scales were checked for zero variance and variables were inspected for impossible values. Scale reliability was assessed, and new variables were computed to reflect scale totals. Categorical variables were inspected for distribution and continuous variables were reviewed for normality assumptions. The model included psychological adaptation as the dependent variable, the film condition as the independent variable, climate change denial as the moderator, and the interaction term of the film condition (CON) x Climate Change Denial (EXP). The results of the descriptive and correlation analyses are presented in Table 4.

Table 4

Descriptive Statistics and Correlations for Multiple Regression								
Variable	М	SD	Cronbach's Alpha	1	2	3	4	
1. EXP	2.23	0.51	.54					
2. CCD	1.91	0.21	.73	.34**				
3. CAS	2.38	0.59	.91	.71	.30**			
4. PAS	3.06	1.02	.93	.59	.30	.76**		

Note. Experience with climate change (EXP) scores ranged from 1.17-3.50, Climate Change Denial Scale (CCD) scores ranged from 1.00-2.00, Climate Anxiety Scale (CAS) scores ranged from (1.09-3.86), and Psychological Adaptation Scale (PAS) scores ranged from 1.00-5.00. Possible scores ranged from 1.00-5.00 for the CCD, 1.00-5.00 for the CAS, and 1.00-5.00 for the PAS.

$p^{**} > 001.$

There were no statistically significant main effects identified for the film conditions and climate change denial on levels of psychological adaptation (b = .37, SE = .71, t = .529, p = .60; b = .25, SE = .23, t = 1.11, p = .27, respectively). The interaction between the film conditions and climate change denial was non-significant, (b = .85, SE = .30, t = 2.80, p = .53). The reliability of the Climate Change Denial scale had a Cronbach alpha of .73, which suggests that the relatedness of the items within the scale are acceptable. These findings indicate that there was no effect of either film condition on psychological adaptation. There was a significant positive relationship between those who had experience with climate change and their levels of

psychological adaptation in that those who had more experience with climate change and higher levels of psychological adaptation (b = 1.06, SE = .15, t = 7.04, p < .001), however, this interpretation is limited due to the EXP scale's low reliability. There was a weak positive correlation identified for those who had higher levels of climate change denial who reported having more experience with climate change, r(130) = 0.34, p < 0.001. This relationship requires further investigation.

Research Question Two

An analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to evaluate the effects of the film conditions on psychological adaptation at varying levels of climate anxiety. It was hypothesized that individuals who are higher in climate anxiety would be more susceptible to the proposed effects of the film conditions. There was no main effect identified for the empowerment and powerlessness conditions, which indicates that climate change anxiety does not influence the strength of this proposed effect. The results did not yield a main effect F(1, 127) = 0.32, p = .58with a standardized coefficient of (b = -.049). An omnibus test indicated that the mean level of psychological adaptation of the empowerment condition was not significantly higher or lower than the mean of the powerlessness condition (p = .25). There were no significant differences in climate anxiety levels associated with the empowerment or powerlessness condition; however, there was a positive association between higher levels of climate anxiety associated with higher levels of psychological adaptation F(3, 123) = 24.59, p < .001 in that those who had higher levels of climate anxiety also measured higher in psychological adaptation. The results of the analysis are included in Table 5 and 6.

Table 5

		0	1				
	E	MP	POW				
	М	SD	М	SD	Df	t p	Cohen's d
CON	3.11	1.10	3.01	.94			
Measures							
CAS	2.40	0.62	2.34	.55	126	.60 .55	.11
PAS ^b	3.11	1.09	3.01	.94	126	.55 .58	.10
CASxCON ^a	05	1.02	06	.97	126	.05 .96	.01

Means, Standard Deviations, and One-Way Analyses of Variance in Psychological and Social Resources and Cognitive Appraisals

^a Interaction term of Climate Anxiety Scale (CAS) and the film conditions (CON).

^b Psychological Adaptation Scale (PAS)

Table 6

One-Way Analyses of Variance									
		Unstandardized		Standardized					
		Coeffi	Coefficients Coe						
Model		В	SE	b	t	р			
1	(Constant)	008	.058		141	.888			
	Zscore(CON)	038	.058	038	659	.511			
	CASxCON	069	.059	068	-1.167	.246			
	Zscore(CAS)	.761	.059	.753	12.916	<.001			

Research Question Three

An independent samples *t*-test was utilized to examine whether people with multiple marginalized identities experienced higher levels of climate anxiety. It was hypothesized that those with two or more marginalized identities who spent the majority of their life in the U.S. would have higher rates of climate change anxiety compared to those who had two or fewer marginalized identities. The variables chosen to measure marginalization were based on broad scientific consensus that suggest these factors are significantly related to marginalization

(Algarin et al., 2019; Nadal et al., 2021; Watson-Singleton et al., 2023). The sample for this analysis was limited to the United States because the demographic variables for immigration status and household income were specific to a U.S. sample. The analysis revealed that there were no observed group differences between those who had two or more marginalized identities and those with one or fewer marginalized identities on levels of climate change anxiety which did not support the hypothesis presented. A subsample of participants who reported living most of their lives in the United States were included in this analysis. Participants endorsing two or more marginalized identities, were assigned to the "YES" marginalized group and those with fewer than two of these identities were assigned to the "NO" non-multiply marginalized group. People with multiple marginalized identities experience greater effects of climate change (Versey, 2021), therefore those who had two or more of these vulnerabilities were included in the analysis. Table 7 includes the means and standard deviations for the two groups.

Table 7

Independent Samples T-Test									
	YES ^a NO ^b		<i>t</i> (48)	р	Cohen's d				
	М	SD	М	SD					
CAS ^c	2.23	.58	2.35	.55	4.91	.44	-0.23		
^a multiply marginalized in the United States $(n = 21)$									

^b non-multiply marginalized in the United States (n = 27)

^c Climate Anxiety Scale (CAS)

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION

I desired to gain information about empowerment and powerlessness messaging to increase psychological adaptation to climate change. To achieve this, I employed previously utilized scales and consultation from interdisciplinary experts. I created stimuli to depict visual empowerment and powerlessness narratives. Participants were assessed for marginalization, experience with climate change, levels of climate change denial, climate anxiety, and psychological adaptation. There were no main effects from the film condition on psychological adaptation, and this study affirms that empowerment and powerlessness narratives had no observed influence on how the sampled participants responded to climate change.

This study found no evidence indicating that climate change denial moderates the relationship between messaging about climate change and an individual's levels of psychological adaptation. There were no detected effects of empowerment and powerlessness messaging for those who had lower levels of climate change denial compared to those who were higher in climate change denial. The strength of the standardized beta coefficient indicates that there was no association between the predicting variables and levels of psychological adaptation. There was no evidence found to suggest that climate change denial moderates the proposed relationship between the film conditions on levels of psychological adaptation; however, there was a small positive relationship identified for those who had experience with climate change who measured higher in levels of psychological adaptation. This relationship suggests that experience with climate change may be needed for someone to adapt to climate change with pro-environmental action, though the experience with climate change measure had low reliability which may limit this interpretation. This low reliability may be due to participants' lack of association with their

experiences with extreme weather events being related to climate change. The reliability of this measure has not been previously reported by researchers. Researchers should consider a more reliable measure in future investigations. It could also be that experience with climate change reduces climate change denial. The absence of the effect of the film condition of the empowerment and powerlessness conditions on psychological adaptation suggests that more work is needed to evaluate the mechanisms for change and tools to promote behavioral engagement.

The data from this study suggest that climate change denial did not moderate an effect of the film conditions on psychological adaptation, for which certain aspects of climate change denial were not dynamically measured. Climate change apathy and denial can have multiple presentations such as those who have an elevated understanding of the interconnectedness of the environment and personal well-being without any major changes in their lifestyle (Maiteny, 2002). This behavioral discrepancy of climate denialism was not captured which may be another facet of climate change denial that needs to be considered. Another aspect that was not captured in the Climate Change Denial (CCD) was psychological splitting, or the emotional separation of the worry from the reality of the situation (Lertzman, 2010; Randall, 2009). The CCD scale did not assess this emotional compartmentalization of climate change denial and only targeted factual understanding of the climate crisis, which did not include relative congruent or divergent emotional reactions to the crisis. Another aspect of climate denial to consider is environmental fatalism, where an individual may have a hopeful attitude toward the crisis while having low levels of self-efficacy to take needed action (Jylhä et al., 2022). Climate change denial patterns did were non-significant in these analyses.

Integration with Existing Research

This study built on the work of Clayton and Karazsia (2020), who initially reviewed written empowerment and powerlessness messaging and found a weak positive relationship between empowerment messaging and climate anxiety while controlling for experience with climate change. My study, in combination with previous studies, suggests that neither visual nor written narratives significantly impact levels of psychological adaptation. A reason for this may be due to potentially confounding variables of politics and exposure to social media. Though politics was not a focal point of the stimuli presented, elements of political affiliation do inform how an individual engages with climate change, with more right-wing individuals being less likely to take pro-environmental action (Brulle, 2020; Hultman et al., 2019; Krange et al., 2019; Wong-Parodi & Feygina, 2020). It was not within the scope of the study to limit by political affiliation given the multinational sample. It is possible that there are influences based on how much exposure an individual has to social media and of varying social media sources that better explain a person's predisposition to adapt to the crisis with pro-environmental action. Additionally, levels of education and access to scientific knowledge about the climate crisis may have shaped participant's responses.

When considering the multinational sample, perceptions of Western politics may have shaped the messaging of the film stimuli which could have influenced psychological adaptation scores. Individuals may have had varied reactions to political elements of the film which could have portrayed different impacts depending on levels of industrialization of their place of dwelling. For example, participants from less industrialized countries may have experienced different reactions to the film than other participants who are the primary emitters of greenhouse gas emissions (Costello et al., 2009; Hayes et al., 2018). It was not within the scope of the

present study to examine differences by nationality. An individual's level of carbon impact may also be considered in future psychological estimates of empowerment and powerlessness messaging, where some participants have a greater responsibility to reduce than other areas of the world who emit fewer greenhouse gases (Maiteny, 2002; Ojala, 2022). The current sample included a diverse range of nationalities, which may limit the interpretation of this analysis due to varying social and political conditions within each geographic domain.

As there was no main effect of the film conditions on psychological adaptation, there was no interaction of climate change anxiety on this proposed effect. Individuals are more likely to psychologically adapt when it is to their own personal advantage (Bechtolt et al., 2021), which may not have been captured in the empowerment and powerlessness film conditions. If a person's personal beliefs about climate change shape their psychological adaptation processes (Bechtolt et al., 2021), the film conditions may not have effectively targeted these self-reflecting reactions and personal estimates of danger. External estimates of risk give a person information about whether their adaptive reactions will protect themselves from climate disasters and their own feelings of self-efficacy will shape how capable they feel in performing adaptive actions (Van Valkengoed & Steg, 2019).

Consistent with previous research, it appears that climate change anxiety is associated with higher levels of psychological adaptation, which suggests that one may feel worried, fearful, and impacted by the crisis, motivating them to take pro-environmental action (Clayton & Karazsia, 2020; Ogunbode et al., 2022; Pickering & Dale, 2023). Persuasive messaging can shape pro-environmental action (Bolsen & Shapiro, 2017; Druckman & McGrath, 2019; Hart & Feldman, 2016; Palm et al., 2020; van der Linden et al., 2017), which suggests that climate anxiety can be a useful tool for emotionally appealing to individuals. Because ecological anxiety

is an emotional response (Comtesse et al., 2021), it would be helpful in future studies to assess this emotional feature to expand psychological adaptation and pro-environmental behavior. As climate anxiety and experience with climate change are positively associated with psychological adaptation, organizational efforts may focus on these groups for community-building and methods for mutual empathy between groups.

To expand pro-environmental behavior, individuals must restore their relationship and value for the environment, which has been adulterated by colonization and industrialization (Palinkas & Wong, 2020; Pörtner et al., 2022; Tam et al., 2021). Due to the complex, cascading, and aggrandizing power of colonization and this subsequent growing disconnect from nature (Pörtner et al., 2022; Tam et al., 2021), individuals have lost an internal sense of what it uniquely means to be an important part of a powerful, magnificent collective (Clayton 2021; Pikhala, 2022; Tam et al., 2021). Restoring this sense of humanity at the individual and collective level will have restorative effects that will lead individuals to reflect existentially about their own sense of humanity and their relationship with nature (Clark, 2020; Clayton, 2021; Comtesse et al., 2021; Cunsolo & Ellis, 2018).

Existing research has found that multiply marginalized individuals experience more barriers to daily functioning, preventing them from adapting psychologically with proenvironmental action (Bouman & Steg, 2019; Uribe & Chapman-Ludwig, 2023), however, there were no significant differences in climate anxiety levels measured for those who are multiply marginalized. Because other aspects of marginalization were not captured in the demographic form (sexuality, disability, etc.), the validity of the marginalization variable and relative climate anxiety levels should be scrutinized. Additionally, the variable for U.S. citizenship was not evenly distributed which may have shaped the outcome of the marginalization measure. As

discussed in the literature review, individuals who have less power have more difficulty thinking and functioning than a person with more power, where power and marginalization are deeply intertwined (Anderson et al., 2021; Han et al., 2021; Singh et al., 2020). Because people with multiple marginalized identities most often have other more immediate life stressors and fewer resources to cope, this could also be a reason that climate anxiety levels were not higher for this group (Pew Research Center, 2009; Weber, 2006).

Based on previous research (Demetriades & Esplen, 2010; Versey et al., 2021), I expected that individuals in the United States who are multiply marginalized would be more impacted psychologically by climate change anxiety than those with one or fewer marginalized identities, however, there was no relationship identified with the measure used. Ecological or climate anxiety is a chronic fear reaction to environmental destruction and can appear as a general concern about our relationship with nature (Clayton, 2011; Comtesse et al., 2021). The infrastructure of the United States encourages people to disconnect from nature, thereby decreasing the likelihood that they will be directly impacted by climate change. This might lead to a lack of concern or apathy about climate change (Tam & Milfont, 2020), yielding insignificant differences between the two marginalized groups. In general, both marginalized and non-marginalized groups in the United States might be less affected by climate change than people in other parts of the world. Additionally, people who dwell in more industrialized nations may not have internal moral conflict about one's consumption and need to make lifestyle changes, a noted characteristic of climate anxiety (Doherty & Clayton, 2011; Hayes et al., 2018; Palinkas & Wong, 2020), perhaps due to the lack of concern for others' well-being in a hyperindividualistic society. The current findings related to marginalization might also point to the need to revise the measurement of marginalization in future research.

Clinical Considerations

Given the evidence of this study, clinicians should consider using more than empowerment strategies alone to facilitate change. Clinicians can facilitate change by improving relational wellness to decrease individual isolation (Johnson et al., 2021; Jordan, 2018). In addition to clinical interventions rooted in action-based coping, interventions focused on emotional regulation and increasing social connectedness are also advantageous for managing climate anxiety (Bingley et al., 2022; Hogg et al., 2021). Indigenous voices have recommended that leaders assemble a wide range of knowledge systems to understand the complexity of the issue at hand and for healthcare professionals to consider place-based emotional attachments in the assessment of the health and wellbeing of others (Johnson et al., 2021).

Understanding how to promote psychological adaptation may require examining in more detail the effects of politics and social media on pro-environmental action and expanding bipartisan narratives surrounding the crisis. Clinical interventions suggest that cohesion and cooperation are facilitated by effective communication between community members and those in power (Haskett et al., 2008; Norris et al., 2002; Tam et al., 2021; Vernberg et al., 2008). The climate crisis causes mistrust between citizens and those in power (Anderson, 2001; Costello et al., 2009; Reuveny, 2008; Tam et al., 2021), and this political mistrust is closely associated with political polarization (Bugden, 2022). Clinicians might engage in activism to increase trust and cooperation between political groups, individuals, and those in power. These efforts by clinicians and leaders to display warm interactions with others with opposing values will aid in diluting the political polarization (Voelkel et al., 2021) that has weakened psychological adaptation and pro-environmental action.

Greater focus should be placed on dismantling the mechanisms that prevent people from acting, such as systemic oppression, growing wealth inequality, and a lack of resources. Between-group conflict will rise due to the disproportionate contribution of greenhouse gas emissions from Western societies, which will increase resource disparities in areas where there are pre-existing conflicts due to racism and other forms of marginalization (Costello et al., 2009; Hayes et al., 2018). Interventions aimed to address systemic trauma require joining in with the oppressed, raising awareness of and labeling oppression, and taking collective social action (Afuape, 2020). Addressing systemic oppression in therapy can also include advocating for change outside of the clinical setting (Markin & Coleman, 2023) and learning the collective history of their systemic trauma (Williams & Jaftha, 2020). The interacting effect of systemic oppression and tensions over resources suggest that there needs to be a fundamental change in the oppressive systems that are the substrates of the crisis and non-response (Clayton, 2021; Raleigh, 2010). Furthermore, addressing the climate crisis may require more relationally focused methods to fundamentally change how we relate and interact with one another.

The American Psychological Association (2011) reaffirmed psychologist's duty to address the climate crisis by centering the human-environment relationship in mental healthcare, acknowledging human behavior as a driving force behind the crisis, recognizing the disproportionate impact the climate crisis has on marginalized groups, and understanding the processes that prevent public comprehension of the crisis (APA, 2011). The APA report further asserts that psychologists and mental health professionals need to utilize education, community engagement, and research to disseminate knowledge about the climate crisis (APA, 2011). The APA (2020) later reaffirmed its 2011 policy on addressing the climate crisis by including the demand for cross-disciplinary research to explore solutions (APA, 2020). Increasing community

and social engagement will increase mutual empathy between groups and dismantle pervasive "othering" that has resulted from political polarization (Jordan, 2018; Kubin & von Sikorski, 2021). Psychology researchers have recommended the reduction and selective exposure to social media to reduce political polarization and the emotional distance it creates (Kubin & von Sikorski, 2021). Clinicians may consider using relational-cultural approaches to increase mutual empathy, decrease isolation, and strengthen identity development at the individual level (Jordan, 2018; Liu et al., 2022). Relational-cultural therapy harnesses connective strategies that improve self-compassion, connection with others, and build mutual empathy (Jordan, 2018; Liu et al., 2022; Westcott & Grimes, 2023).

Clinicians may also consider the evidence of this study to encourage psychologically adaptive behaviors for clients who report feeling anxious about the climate. Because climate change anxiety is associated with higher levels of psychological adaptation, clinicians may use action-focused coping as a therapeutic tool to alleviate climate anxiety (Hogg et al., 2021). To explore the complexity of the climate crisis in clinical settings, clinicians must consider multiple disciplines in their assessment of climate human health and well-being. Psychologists have newly suggested the exploration of posthuman knowledge in providing ecological context for human emotions by facilitating existential reflections about one's humanity, their relationship to their planet, their relationship with other humans, and their relationship with non-humans as a means to address climate anxiety (Boyd et al., 2022). Clinicians may also note that individuals who report having experience with climate change are more likely to respond to the crisis with psychologically adaptive behaviors which give clinicians more insight about who is more likely to respond pro-environmentally.

Future Research

Nationality and level of industrialization in one's dwelling country may play a role in how one responds to climate change, an important consideration of future investigations. Future initiatives may consider more intentional sampling of specialized groups including young people, Indigenous groups, and those working in agricultural industries. In order to dismantle the extreme polarization that has resulted from social media, scientists might consider more relationally informed methods to build mutual empathy between groups. More research is needed in order to identify mechanisms that permeate bipartisanship between groups, an important precedent for promoting cooperation and mutual empathy (Christie & Morrison, 2021; Wong-Parodi & Feygina, 2020). This study did not account for levels of trust in authority, and it may enrich the data to include items that assess political polarization and trust in leadership when evaluating future mechanisms for change.

Part of this work may involve exploring methodology that will challenge the negative relational images that have been shaped by disinformation, political tensions, and systemic oppression (Jordan, 2018). Individuals who use social media build up relational schemas that often reflect demonized versions of others who subscribe to a particular political ideology (Hultman et al., 2019; Jordan, 2018; Kubin & von Sikorski , 2021; Raleigh, 2010). This polarization occludes the individual's perceptions about the dynamic and flawed nature of another person who is different than them, naturally having "good" and "bad" aspects of themselves (Hultman et al., 2019; Kubin & von Sikorski, 2021). This pervasive act of "othering" those who do not have the same values, has inhibited bipartisan efforts and has further isolated individuals and communities (Hultman et al., 2019; Jordan, 2018; Kubin & von Sikorski, 2018; Kubin & von Sikorski, 2021; Zhou, 2016).

Given the limitations of this study, researchers might expand the measurement of experience with climate change to confirm whether the impacts reported are climate-related. Similarly, researchers might consider expanding current measurements of climate change denial. An improved measure for climate change denialism might include items that assess for emotional detachment from the crisis or behavioral discrepancies that diverge from a person's emotional feelings about the crisis. Future research may also consider other areas of marginalization that may not have been captured by the demographic form of this study, such as disability, relationship orientation, or sexuality. A more reliable measure is needed to assess marginalization that includes a wide range of marginalized identities. Improving the marginalization measure might include adding demographic items or clinical interviewing.

This study confirmed that there is no effect of empowerment or powerlessness messaging on psychological adaptation, so future studies may explore other mechanisms for change that can better improve psychological adaptation. To improve empowerment strategies, researchers might consider exploring the duration of the effects of empowerment and the process of internalizing a sense of empowerment using a longitudinal research design. It may require more than one exposure of the film to internalize the positive effect of empowerment.

Future studies may also intentionally sample those with pre-existing climate anxiety in order to assess levels of psychological adaptation and may also consider the impact of exposure to social media and political polarization's effect on psychological adaptation. Continuing to address the worsening mental health crisis resulting from climate change requires ongoing consultation and cross-disciplinary insight from environmental scientists, political experts, religious leaders, educators, and other related field experts.

Strengths

An important strength of this study is the added evidence that more collective and relational methods are needed to restore the foundation of human connection with one another and to our environment. Evidence showed that the visual manipulation of this condition did not yield an effect, suggesting that scientists may use more systemic approaches to improve human relations. An added strength of this study is the diverse sample pool which strengthens the generalizability of the study. Having a multinational sample gives cross-cultural data on the effectiveness of the messaging framing and whether the same mechanisms for change apply to varying groups. The diversity of the sample pool accentuates the need for multicultural considerations when formulating climate solutions.

An additional strength of this study is the confirmation that neither visual nor written empowerment and powerlessness messaging had a significant effect on psychological adaptation. While the written presentations of empowerment and powerlessness messaging yielded a small relationship with psychological adaptation (Clayton & Karazsia, 2020), it was expected that visual empowerment and powerlessness depictions would yield stronger effects. This messaging effect did not appear significant in either study, which suggests that other mechanisms for change should be considered.

This study sought interdisciplinary review and editing from Ecologist Dr. Annika Nelson, which adds to the strength of the study's interpretation. Climate change is a multifaceted, complex crisis that requires expertise from several areas to make well-informed investigations. Because of the interdisciplinary nature of the study, the results have practical implications for future directions in research to examine dynamic mechanisms for change. Future research should

continue to include environmental scientists, political experts, and other relevant fields in future research.

Limitations

There are some limitations of the study that may contextualize the results. The empowerment film condition featured messaging highlighting bipartisanship, cooperation, and constructive narratives around climate change action that targeted participants' self-efficacy. There are, however, still other important factors of empowerment that may have been unaccounted for, such as a person's sense of control over their situation. Future studies may remedy this by also empowering participants with resources or a set of tangible and direct actions to take within the survey. Other applicable tools for empowerment to consider are community-building initiatives with an aim to facilitate bipartisan dialogs. This study did not include political affiliation as a variable in the analysis which may limit the interpretation of these findings.

The measurement of marginalization may need to be reviewed as the demographic form did not inquire about disability status, sexuality, and other marginalized identities, which may limit the interpretation of the independent samples *t*-test. If other areas of marginalization were accounted for, climate anxiety levels may have been higher for the multiply marginalized (Hall & Carlson, 2016). Additionally, not all items were used in the demographic form which may limit the interpretation of the marginalization measure. The marginalization outcomes of this study may have been limited due to the uneven distribution of the U.S. citizenship variable in the marginalization measure. The dynamic nature of marginalization may require more complex psychometric tools, such as clinical interviewing or additional demographic form items. .

about climate change (Ojala, 2022), and the lack of climate change education in United States public schools is pervasive (Khalidi & Ramsey, 2019; Siegner & Stapert, 2020). The deficit of scientific knowledge and understanding about the climate crisis widely available to the public may provide an explanation as to why there were no exceptional findings for climate anxiety levels in the marginalized and non-marginalized.

The absence of an empowerment effect may be due to missing components of motivational empowerment. A person feels motivationally empowered when an individual's power needs are met, they have adequate resources, and when they feel they have the capability to manage their situation (Conger & Kanungo, 1988), and it appears that the film conditions did not satisfy these aspects of empowerment. Participants experienced no changes in their resources and no meaningful shift in their relative political or social power. Motivational empowerment may not be possible until participants feel in alignment with their leadership and until major infrastructure changes take place that make pro-environmental living more accessible. The duration of the proposed effect from the empowerment and powerlessness film conditions should be noted. It is possible that the length of the films did not last long enough to reach key outcomes in the study. For example, if a person received the empowerment condition, they may not have internalized an increased sense of empowerment in enough time to respond to the Psychological Adaptation Scale (PAS). The lack of this effect may also be due to the under-sampling of Republican-identified persons in the study. Furthermore, there were no items to check for participant's attention for which this inattentiveness may have hindered empowerment effects. More information is needed about the types of resources that strengthen a sense of empowerment and the duration of any benefits gained from increased empowerment.

Additionally, the measurement of experience with climate change was not reliable, with Cronbach's alpha of .54. There is a need to review the validity of the control variable for experience with climate change. It is possible that individuals who have experience with extreme weather events may not attribute those experiences to climate change, which may weaken the validity of the experience with climate change measure. The weakness of the experience with climate change measure may limit the interpretation of the relationship between experience with climate change (EXP) and psychological adaptation (PAS). An improved measure is needed to capture dynamic aspects of climate change impacts. More information is needed about the subjective nature of climate change denialism, experience with climate change, and whether a person who is experiencing extreme weather impacts believes they are attributed to a warming climate. Self-report measures may not be as useful for these purposes.

Conclusion

This study aimed to identify whether there was an effect of empowerment and powerlessness messaging on action responses to climate change. It was thought that climate change denial may have moderated this proposed effect, though the results indicated that there was no observed main effect from the film conditions. This study aimed to gain information about climate anxiety and whether having climate anxiety made an individual more susceptible to this proposed effect. While climate anxiety and experience with climate change are positively associated with psychological adaptation, there was no observed effect of climate anxiety increasing this proposed effect. Taken together, it may be more fruitful to explore between-group solutions that promote collectivism, mutual empathy, and meaning-focused coping tools.

As the perils of the climate crisis increase psychosocial distress and create more danger, rapid solutions are needed to transform how individuals relate to people who are unlike

themselves. Empowerment and powerlessness narratives have no observed effect on how a person responds to climate change, therefore it may be more productive to explore collective approaches to managing climate anxiety and increasing psychological adaptation. Individualism, white supremacy, capitalism, and systemic oppression have been known to be driving forces that have counteracted pro-environmental efforts (Hultman et al., 2019; Krange et al., 2019), and it is imperative that the field of mental health employ a decolonized perspective of our social and ecological concerns.

REFERENCES

- Abbott, C. (2008). An uncertain future: law enforcement, national security and climate change. London: Oxford Research Group.
- Adger, W. N., Dessai, S., Goulden, M., Hulme, M., Lorenzoni, I., Nelson, D. R., & Wreford, A. (2009). Are there social limits to adaptation to climate change? *Climatic Change*, 93, 335-354. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1007/s10584-008-9520-z</u>
- Afuape, T. (2020). Radical systemic intervention that goes to the root: working alongside innercity school children, linking trauma with oppression and consciousness with action. *Journal of Family Therapy*, *42*(3), 425-452. <u>https://doi-</u>

org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1111/1467-6427.12304

- Ágoston, C., Csaba, B., Nagy, B., Kőváry, Z., Dúll, A., Rácz, J., & Demetrovics, Z. (2022).
 Identifying types of eco-anxiety, eco-guilt, eco-grief, and eco-coping in a climate-sensitive population: a qualitative study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *19*(4), 2461. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19042461
- Aitken, C. (2009). Changing climate and changing behaviour: Perceptions of powerlessness and the commons dilemma. [Master's Thesis, Victoria University of Wellington]. http://researcharchive.vuw.ac.nz/handle/10063/958
- Aitken, C., Chapman, R., & McClure, J. (2011). Climate change, powerlessness and the commons dilemma: Assessing New Zealanders' preparedness to act. *Global Environmental Change*, 21(2), 752-760. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2011.01.002
- Albalooshi, S., Moeini-Jazani, M., Fennis, B. M., & Warlop, L. (2020). Reinstating the resourceful self: when and how self-affirmations improve executive performance of the

powerless. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 46*(2), 189-203. https://doiorg.ezp.twu.edu/10.1177/0146167219853840

- Algarin, A. B., Zhou, Z., Cook, C. L., Cook, R. L., & Ibañez, G. E. (2019). Age, sex, race, ethnicity, sexual orientation: intersectionality of marginalized-group identities and enacted HIV-related stigma among people living with HIV in Florida. AIDS and Behavior, 23, 2992-3001. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1007/s10461-019-02629-y</u>
- American Psychological Association (2011). Resolution on affirming psychologists' role in addressing global climate change. <u>https://www.apa.org/about/policy/climate-change</u>
- American Psychological Association (2020). APA's response to the global climate change crisis. https://www.apa.org/about/policy/climate-change-crisis
- American Psychological Association. Task Force on the Interface between Psychology and Global Climate Change (2009) Psychology and global climate change: Addressing a multi-faceted phenomenon and set of challenges.
- Amor, A. M., Xanthopoulou, D., Calvo, N., & Vázquez, J. P. A. (2021). Structural empowerment, psychological empowerment, and work engagement: A cross-country study. *European Management Journal*, *39*(6), 779-789. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2021.01.005
- Anderson, C. A. (2001). Heat and violence. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 10, 33–38. doi:10.1111/1467-8721.00109
- Anderson, V., Elliott, C., & Callahan, J. L. (2021). Power, powerlessness, and journal ranking lists: The marginalization of fields of practice. *Academy of Management Learning & Education*, 20(1), 89-107. https://doi.org/10.5465/amle.2019.0037

Aronsson, T., & Schöb, R. (2018). Climate change and psychological adaptation: A behavioral environmental economics approach. *Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Economics*, 74, 79-84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socec.2018.03.005

Arunrat, N., Sereenonchai, S., & Wang, C. (2021). Carbon footprint and predicting the impact of climate change on carbon sequestration ecosystem services of organic rice farming and conventional rice farming: A case study in Phichit province, Thailand. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 289, 112458. https://doiorg.ezp.twu.edu/10.1016/j.jenvman.2021.112458

- Balbus, J., Crimmins, A., Gamble, J. L., Easterling, D., Kunkel, K., Saha, S., & Sarofim, M. C.
 (2016). Climate change and human health. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*, 25-42.
- Balikoowa, K., Nabanoga, G., Tumusiime, D. M., & Mbogga, M. S. (2019). Gender differentiated vulnerability to climate change in Eastern Uganda. *Climate and Development*, 11(10), 839-849. <u>https://doi-</u>

org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1080/17565529.2019.1580555

Ballew, M. T., Leiserowitz, A., Roser-Renouf, C., Rosenthal, S. A., Kotcher, J. E., Marlon, J. R., & Maibach, E. W. (2019). Climate change in the American mind: Data, tools, and trends. *Environment: Science and Policy for Sustainable Development*, *61*(3), 4-18. https://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1080/00139157.2019.1589300

Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological Review*, 84(2), 191. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/0033-295X.84.2.191

- Barnett, T. P., Pierce, D. W., & Schnur, R. (2001). Detection of anthropogenic climate change in the world's oceans. *Science*, 292(5515), 270-274.
- Barromi Perlman, E. (2016). Using visual reflective diaries of photographs of school buildings as a tool for empowering students in teacher training. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 15(1), https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406916653760

Basu, R., & Samet, J. (2002). Relation between ambient temperature and mortality: A review of the epidemiological evidence. *Epidemiologic Reviews*, 24, 190–202. doi:10.1093/epirev/mxf007

- Bechtoldt, M. N., Götmann, A., Moslener, U., & Pauw, W. P. (2021). Addressing the climate change adaptation puzzle: A psychological science perspective. *Climate Policy*, 21(2), 186-202. https://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1080/14693062.2020.1807897
- Bergquist, P., Marlon, J. R., Goldberg, M. H., Gustafson, A., Rosenthal, S. A., & Leiserowitz, A. (2022). Information about the human causes of global warming influences causal attribution, concern, and policy support related to global warming. *Thinking & Reasoning*, 28(3), 465-486. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1080/13546783.2022.2030407</u>
- _Bhadwal, S., Sharma, G., Gorti, G., & Sen, S. M. (2019). Livelihoods, gender and climate change in the Eastern Himalayas. *Environmental Development*, 31, 68-77. https://doiorg.ezp.twu.edu/10.1016/j.envdev.2019.04.008

Bingley, W. J., Tran, A., Boyd, C. P., Gibson, K., Kalokerinos, E. K., Koval, P., Kashima, Y.,
McDonald, D., & Greenaway, K. H. (2022). A multiple needs framework for climate change anxiety interventions. *American Psychologist*, 77(7), 812–
821. https://doi.org/10.1027/org0001012

821. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0001012

- Böhm, G. (2003). Emotional reactions to environmental risks: Consequentialist versus ethical evaluation. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 23, 199–212. doi:10.1016/S0272-4944(02)00114-7
- Bolsen, T., & Shapiro, M. A. (2017). Strategic framing and persuasive messaging to influence climate change perceptions and decisions. Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Climate Science. https://doi.org/10.1093/acrefore/9780190228620.013.385
- Bolsen, T., Palm, R., & Kingsland, J. T. (2019). The impact of message source on the effectiveness of communications about climate change. *Science Communication*, *41*(4), 464-487. https://doi.org/10.1177/1075547019863154
- Boulianne, S., & Belland, S. (2022). Climate denial in Canada and the United States. *Canadian Review of Sociology/Revue Canadienne de Sociologie*, 59(3), 369-394. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1111/cars.12388</u>
- Bouman, T., & Steg, L. (2019). Motivating society-wide pro-environmental change. *One Earth, 1*(1), 27-30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2019.08.002
- Boyd, C., Parr, H., & Philo, C. (2022). Climate anxiety as posthuman knowledge. *Wellbeing, Space and Society*, 100120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wss.2022.100120
- Bradley, G. L., Babutsidze, Z., Chai, A., & Reser, J. P. (2020). The role of climate change risk perception, response efficacy, and psychological adaptation in pro-environmental behavior: A two nation study. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 68, 101410. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2020.101410
- Brewer, M. B. (2008). Deprovincialization: Social identity complexity and outgroup acceptance. Improving Intergroup Relations: Building on the Legacy of Thomas F. Pettigrew, 160-176. DOI:10.1002/9781444303117

- Brklacich, M., Chazan, M., & Dawe, A. (2007). Vulnerabilities of societies under Global
 Environmental Change (GEC). In H. Tiessen, M. Brklacich, G. Breulmann & R. S. C.
 Menezes (Eds.), *Communicating Global Change Science to Society* (pp. 73–88).
 Washington, DC: Island Press.
- Brouwer, R., Akter, S., Brander, L., & Haque, E. (2007). Socioeconomic vulnerability and adaptation to environmental risk: A case study of climate change and flooding in Bangladesh. *Risk Analysis*, 27, 313–326. doi:10.1111/j.1539-6924.2007.00884.x
- Brulle, R. J. (2020). Denialism: Organized opposition to climate change action in the United States. *Handbook of US Environmental Policy*, 328.
- Budziszewska, M., & Kałwak, W. (2022). Climate depression. Critical analysis of the concept. *Psychiatria Polska*, *56*(1), 171–182. https://doi.org/10.12740/PP/127900NASA.
- Bugden, D. (2022). Denial and distrust: explaining the partisan climate gap. *Climatic Change*, *170*(3-4), 34. https://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1007/s10584-022-03321-2
- Bullard, R. D., & Johnson, G. S. (2000). Environmental justice: Grassroots activism and its impact on public policy decision making. *Journal of Social Issues*, 56, 555–578. doi:10.1111/0022-4537.00184
- Burke, S. E., Sanson, A. V., & Van Hoorn, J. (2018). The psychological effects of climate change on children. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 20, 1-8. https://doiorg.ezp.twu.edu/10.1007/s11920-018-0896-9
- Burley, D. M. (2010). Losing ground: Identity and land loss in coastal Louisiana. University Press of Mississippi.

- Cakir, S., & Yerin Guneri, O. (2011). Exploring the factors contributing to empowerment of Turkish migrant women in the UK. *International Journal of Psychology*, 46(3), 223-233. https://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1080/00207594.2010.532800
- Cianconi, P., Betrò, S., & Janiri, L. (2020). The impact of climate change on mental health: a systematic descriptive review. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 11, 74. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00074
- Clark, S. (2020). Organic farming and climate change: The need for innovation. *Sustainability*, *12*(17), 7012. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12177012
- Clayton, S. (2021). Climate change and mental health. *Current Environmental Health Reports*, 8, 1-6. https://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1007/s40572-020-00303-3
- Clayton, S., & Karazsia, B. T. (2020). Development and validation of a measure of climate change anxiety. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 69, 101434. https://doiorg.ezp.twu.edu/10.1016/j.jenvp.2020.101434
- Chapman, S., Mustin, K., Renwick, A. R., Segan, D. B., Hole, D. G., Pearson, R. G., & Watson,
 J. E. (2014). Publishing trends on climate change vulnerability in the conservation
 literature reveal a predominant focus on direct impacts and long timescales. *Diversity and Distributions*, 20(10), 1221-1228. https://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1111/ddi.12234
- Chen, T., Bao, A., Jiapaer, G., Guo, H., Zheng, G., Jiang, L., & Tuerhanjiang, L. (2019).
 Disentangling the relative impacts of climate change and human activities on arid and semiarid grasslands in Central Asia during 1982–2015. *Science of the Total Environment*, 653, 1311-1325. https://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.11.058
- Christie, D. J., & Morrison, D. M. (2021). Empathy and Peace. *The Palgrave Handbook of Positive Peace*, 1-23. ttps://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1007/978-981-15-3877-3_50-1

- Comtesse, H., Ertl, V., Hengst, S. M., Rosner, R., & Smid, G. E. (2021). Ecological grief as a response to environmental change: a mental health risk or functional response?
 International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18(2), 734.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18020734
- Conger, J. A., & Kanungo, R. N. (1988). The empowerment process: Integrating theory and practice. Academy of Management Review, 13(3), 471-482. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.1988.4306983
- Costello, A., Abbas, M., Allen, A., Ball, S., Bell, S., Bellamy, R., & Patterson, C. (2009).
 Managing the health effects of climate change: Lancet and University College London
 Institute for Global Health Commission. *Lancet*, *373*, 1693–1733. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60935-1
- Cunsolo, A., & Ellis, N. R. (2018). Ecological grief as a mental health response to climate change-related loss. *Nature Climate Change*, 8(4), 275–281. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-018-0092-2
- Cutter, S. L., & Finch, C. (2008). Temporal and spatial changes in social vulnerability to natural hazards. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, USA, 105, 2301–2306. doi:10.1073/pnas.0710375105
- Demetriades, J., & Esplen, E. (2010). The gender dimensions of poverty and climate change adaptation. *Social Dimensions of Climate Change: Equity and Vulnerability in a Warming World*, 133-143.
- De Vries, S., Verheij, R., Groenevegen, P., & Spreeuwenberg, P. (2003). Natural environmentshealthy environments? An exploratory analysis of the relationship between green space and health. *Environment and Planning A, 35*, 1717–1731. doi:10.1068/a35111

- Diener, E., Lucas, R.E., Scollon, C.N., 2006. Beyond the hedonic treadmill revising the adaptation theory of well-being. *American Psychologist*. *61*(5), 305–314. https://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1007/978-90-481-2350-6_5
- Dixon, G., Hmielowski, J., & Ma, Y. (2017). Improving climate change acceptance among US conservatives through value-based message targeting. *Science Communication*, 39(4), 520-534. https://doi.org/10.1177/1075547017715473
- Doherty, T. J., & Clayton, S. (2011). The psychological impacts of global climate change. American Psychologist, 66(4), 265. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0023141
- Druckman, J. N. (2011). What's it all about? Framing in political science. *Perspectives on Framing*, 279, 282-296.
- Druckman, J. N., & McGrath, M. C. (2019). The evidence for motivated reasoning in climate change preference formation. *Nature Climate Change*, 9(2), 111-119. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-018-0360-1
- Dunlap, R. E., & Jacques, P. J. (2013). Climate change denial books and conservative think tanks: Exploring the connection. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 57(6), 699-731. DOI: 10.1177/0002764213477096
- Dunlap, R. E., & McCright, A. M. (2011). Organized climate change denial. *The Oxford Handbook of Climate Change and Society*, 1, Oxford University Press. 144-160.
- Ebi, K. L., & Semenza, J. C. (2008). Community-based adaptation to the health impacts of climate change. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *35*, 501–507. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2008.08.018

- Falihi, A., & Wason-Ellam, L. (2009). Critical visuality: On the development of critical visual literacy for learners' empowerment. *International Journal of Learning*, 16(3).
- Fasce, A., Adrián-Ventura, J., Lewandowsky, S., & van der Linden, S. (2023). Science through a tribal lens: A group-based account of polarization over scientific facts. *Group Processes* & *Intergroup Relations*, 26(1), 3–23. https://doi-

org.ezp.twu.edu/<u>10.1177/13684302211050323</u>

- Ferguson, M. A., & Schmitt, M. T. (2021). Editorial overview: Six messages of climate psychology. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 42, iv-viii. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2021.12.001
- Few, R. (2007). Health and climatic hazards: Framing social research on vulnerability, response and adaptation. *Global Environmental Change*, 17, 281–295. doi:10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2006.11.001
- Feygina, I., Jost, J. T., & Goldsmith, R. E. (2010). System justification, the denial of global warming, and the possibility of "system-sanctioned change." *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 36, 326–338. doi:10.1177/0146167209351435
- Filson, J., Ulloa, E., Runfola, C., & Hokoda, A. (2010). Does powerlessness explain the relationship between intimate partner violence and depression? *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 25(3), 400-415. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1177/0886260509334401</u>
- Fiske, S. T. (2010). Interpersonal stratification: Status, power, and subordination. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470561119.socpsy002026
- Fletcher, J., Higham, J., & Longnecker, N. (2021). Climate change risk perception in the USA and alignment with sustainable travel behaviours. *PLoS One*, *16*(2), e0244545. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0244545

- Foulk, T. A., De Pater, I. E., Schaerer, M., du Plessis, C., Lee, R., & Erez, A. (2020). It's lonely at the bottom (too): The effects of experienced powerlessness on social closeness and disengagement. *Personnel Psychology*, 73(2), 363-394. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12358
- Frederick, S., & Loewenstein, G. (1999). 16 Hedonic adaptation. Well-Being. The foundations of Hedonic Psychology, edited by D. Kahneman, E. Diener, Russell Sage Foundation. 302-329.
- Fritze, J. G., Blashki, G. A., Burke, S., & Wiseman, J. (2008). Hope, despair and transformation: Climate change and the promotion of mental health and wellbeing. *International Journal* of Mental Health Systems, 2(13). doi:10.1186/1752-4458-2-13
- Gaard, G. (2015, March). Ecofeminism and climate change. *Women's Studies International Forum (49)*, pp. 20-33. Pergamon. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wsif.2015.02.004</u>
- Galea, S., & Vlahov, D. (2005). Urban health: evidence, challenges, and directions. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 26, 341-365.

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.publhealth.26.021304.144708

- Gates, T. G., Beazley, H., & Davis, C. (2020). Coping with grief, loss, and well-being during a pandemic: A collaborative autoethnography of international educators during COVID-19.
 International Social Work, 63(6), 782–785. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020872820949622
- Ge, W., Sheng, G., & Zhang, H. (2020). How to solve the social norm conflict dilemma of green consumption: The moderating effect of self-affirmation. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11, 566571. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.566571
Gifford, R. (2011). The dragons of inaction: psychological barriers that limit climate change mitigation and adaptation. *American Psychologist*, 66(4), 290.
https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0023566

- Gifford, R., & Sussman, R. (2012). Environmental attitudes. In S. D. Clayton (Ed.), The Oxford handbook of environmental and conservation psychology (pp. 65–80). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199733026.013.0004
- Gorislavsky, E., & Mares, D. (2022). Climate change and victimization risk: A disaggregated look at NCVS data. *International Review of Victimology*, 28(1), 52-68. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269758021992675
- Gornitz, V., & Nasa. (1985). A survey of anthropogenic vegetation changes in West Africa during the last century—climatic implications. *Climatic Change*, 7, 285-325. https://doiorg.ezp.twu.edu/10.1007/BF00144172
- Greitemeyer, T. (2013). Beware of climate change skeptic films. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 35, 105-109. https://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1016/j.jenvp.2013.06.002
- Greuell, W., Andersson, J. C. M., Donnelly, C., Feyen, L., Gerten, D., Ludwig, F., & Schaphoff,
 S. (2015). Evaluation of five hydrological models across Europe and their suitability for
 making projections under climate change. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences Discussions*, 12(10), 10289-10330. https://doi.org/10.5194/hessd-12-10289-2015
- Guerreiro, S. B., Dawson, R. J., Kilsby, C., Lewis, E., & Ford, A. (2018). Future heat-waves, droughts and floods in 571 European cities. *Environmental Research Letters*, 13(3), 034009. DOI 10.1088/1748-9326/aaaad3
- Hajat, S., Vardoulakis, S., Heaviside, C., & Eggen, B. (2014). Climate change effects on human health: Projections of temperature-related mortality for the UK during the 2020s, 2050s

and 2080s. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 68(7), 641-648. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/jech-2013-202449

- Häkkinen, K., & Akrami, N. (2014). Ideology and climate change denial. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 70, 62-65. https://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1016/j.paid.2014.06.030
- Hall, J., & Carlson, K. (2016). Marginalization: A Revisitation With Integration of Scholarship on Globalization, Intersectionality, Privilege, Microaggressions, and Implicit Biases. *Advances in Nursing Science*, *39*(3), 200-215. 10.1097/ANS.00000000000123
- Haller, M., & Hadler, M. (2008). Dispositions to act in favor of the environment: Fatalism and readiness to make sacrifices in a cross-national perspective 1. In *Sociological Forum*, 23(2), pp. 281-311. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1573-7861.2008.00059.x
- Han, H., McKenna, E., & Oyakawa, M. (2021). Prisms of the people: Power & organizing in twenty-first-century America. *Prisms of the People*. University of Chicago Press. https://doi.org/10.7208/chicago/9780226744063
- Happer, C., & Philo, G. (2016). New approaches to understanding the role of the news media in the formation of public attitudes and behaviours on climate change. *European Journal of Communication*, *31*(2), 136-151. DOI: 10.1177/0267323115612213
- Harrison, C. M., Burgess, J., & Filius, P. (1996). Rationalizing environmental responsibilities: a comparison of lay publics in the UK and the Netherlands. *Global Environmental Change*, 6(3), 215-234. https://doi.org/10.1016/0959-3780(96)00016-7
- Hart, P. S., & Feldman, L. (2016). The influence of climate change efficacy messages and efficacy beliefs on intended political participation. *PloS one*, *11*(8), e0157658. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0157658

- Hart, P. S., & Nisbet, E. C. (2012). Boomerang effects in science communication: How motivated reasoning and identity cues amplify opinion polarization about climate mitigation policies. *Communication Research*, *39*(6), 701-723. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093650211416646
- Haskett, M. E., Scott, S. S., Nears, K., & Grimmett, M. A. (2008). Lessons from Katrina:
 Disaster mental health service in the Gulf Coast region. Professional Psychology: *Research and Practice*, *39*, 93–99. doi:10.1037/0735-7028.39.1.93
- Hatfield, J. L., & Walthall, C. L. (2014). Climate change: Cropping system changes and adaptations. *Encyclopedia of Agriculture and Food Systems*, 256-265.
- Hayes, K., Blashki, G., Wiseman, J., Burke, S., & Reifels, L. (2018). Climate change and mental health: Risks, impacts and priority actions. *International Journal of Mental Health* systems, 12(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13033-018-0210-6
- Heir, T., Hussain, A., & Weisæth, L. (2008). Managing the after-effects of disaster trauma: The essentials of early intervention. *European Psychiatric Review*, *1*(1), 66-69.
- Hobfoll, S. E., Watson, P. B., Carl, C., Bryant, R. A., Brymer, M. J., Friedman, M. J., & Ursano,
 R. J. (2007). Five essential elements of immediate and mid-term mass trauma intervention: Empirical evidence. *Psychiatry: Interpersonal and Biological Processes*, 70, 283–315. doi: 10.1521/psyc.2007.70.4.283

Hogg, T. L., Stanley, S. K., O'Brien, L. V., Wilson, M. S., & Watsford, C. R. (2021). The Hogg Eco-Anxiety Scale: Development and validation of a multidimensional scale. *Global Environmental Change*, 71, 102391. https://doiorg.ezp.twu.edu/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2021.102391

- Höök, M., & Tang, X. (2013). Depletion of fossil fuels and anthropogenic climate change—A review. *Energy Policy*, 52, 797-809.
- Heath, Y., & Gifford, R. (2006). Free-market ideology and environmental degradation: The case of belief in global climate change. *Environment and Behavior*, 38(1), 48-71. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916505277998
- Ho, C. H., Chen, J. L., Nobuyuki, Y., Lur, H. S., & Lu, H. J. (2016). Mitigating uncertainty and enhancing resilience to climate change in the fisheries sector in Taiwan: Policy implications for food security. *Ocean & Coastal Management*, *130*, 355-372. https://doiorg.ezp.twu.edu/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2016.06.020
- Hong, C., Zhang, Q., Zhang, Y., Davis, S. J., Tong, D., Zheng, Y., & Schellnhuber, H. J. (2019).
 Impacts of climate change on future air quality and human health in China. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 116(35), 17193-17200. https://doiorg.ezp.twu.edu/10.1073/pnas.1812881116
- Hultman, M., Björk, A., & Viinikka, T. (2019). The far right and climate change denial. *The Far Right and the Environment. Politics, Discourse and Communication (S. 121–135).*London, New York: Routledge.
- Jha, S. (2010). Need for growth, achievement, power and affiliation: Determinants of psychological empowerment. *Global Business Review*, 11(3), 379-393. https://doiorg.ezp.twu.edu/10.1177/097215091001100305
- Jin, L., Tam, T., & Tao, L. (2019). Well-off but powerless? Status incongruence and psychological well-being in contemporary China. *Social Science & Medicine*, 235, 112345. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.05.050

- Johnson, D., Parsons, M., & Fisher, K. (2021). Engaging Indigenous perspectives on health, wellbeing and climate change. A new research agenda for holistic climate action in Aotearoa and beyond. *Local Environment*, 26(4), 477-503. https://doi.org/10.1080/13549839.2021.1901266
- Jones, A. E., Turner, J., Caminade, C., Heath, A. E., Wardeh, M., Kluiters, G., & Baylis, M. (2019). Bluetongue risk under future climates. *Nature Climate Change*, 9(2), 153-157. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-018-0376-6
- Jordan, J. (2018). *Relational-cultural therapy (Kindle Edition)*. American Psychological Association.
- Jylhä, K. M., & Hellmer, K. (2020). Right-wing populism and climate change denial: The roles of exclusionary and anti-egalitarian preferences, conservative ideology, and antiestablishment attitudes. *Analyses of Social Issues and Public Policy*, 20(1), 315-335. https://doi.org/10.1111/asap.12203
- Jylhä, K. M., Stanley, S. K., Ojala, M., & Clarke, E. J. (2022). Science denial: A narrative review and recommendations for future research and practice. *European Psychologist*. https://doi.org/10.1027/1016-9040/a000487
- Kahn Jr, P. H. (1999). *The human relationship with nature: Development and culture*. MIT Press.
- Keiffer, C. (1984). Citizen empowerment: A developmental perspective. *Prevention in Human Services*, *3*(16), 9-35. https://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1300/J293v03n02_03
- Keller, C., Bechtoldt, M., & Kreutzer, K. (2022). The paralysis of perceived powerlessness–How emotional tensions influence corporate climate action. *Academy of Management Proceedings*, 2022(1), p. 17330. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMBPP.2022.17330abstract

- Khalidi, R., & Ramsey, J. (2021). A comparison of California and Texas secondary science teachers' perceptions of climate change. *Environmental Education Research*, 27(5), 669-686. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1080/13504622.2020.1838447</u>
- Kim, K., & Ahn, S. J. (2019). The moderating role of cultural background in temporal framing: focusing on climate change awareness advertising. *Asian Journal of Communication*, 29(4), 363-385.
- Kim, T. H., Lee, S. S., Oh, J., & Lee, S. (2019). Too powerless to speak up: Effects of social rejection on sense of power and employee voice. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 49(10), 655-667. https://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1111/jasp.12625
- Krange, O., Kaltenborn, B. P., & Hultman, M. (2019). Cool dudes in Norway: climate change denial among conservative Norwegian men. *Environmental Sociology*, 5(1), 1-11. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1080/23251042.2018.1488516</u>
- Kubin, E., & von Sikorski, C. (2021). The role of (social) media in political polarization: a systematic review. *Annals of the International Communication Association*, 45(3), 188-206. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1080/23808985.2021.1976070</u>
- Kuo, F. E., & Faber Taylor, A. (2004). A potential natural treatment for attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder: Evidence from a national study. *American Journal of Public Health*, 94(9), 1580-1586. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.94.9.1580
- Labonte, R. (1989). Community empowerment: The need for political analysis. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 80(2), 87-88. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/41989689</u>
- Lama, P., Hamza, M., & Wester, M. (2021). Gendered dimensions of migration in relation to climate change. *Climate and Development*, 13(4), 326-336. <u>https://doiorg.ezp.twu.edu/10.1080/17565529.2020.1772708</u>

- Langford, I. H. (2002). An existential approach to risk perception. *Risk Analysis*, 22(1), 101-120. http://62.189.42.105/pdf/index.htm
- Larionow, P., Sołtys, M., Izdebski, P., Mudło-Głagolska, K., Golonka, J., Demski, M., & Rosińska, M. (2022). Climate change anxiety assessment: The psychometric properties of the Polish version of the Climate Anxiety Scale. *Frontiers in Psychology, 13* doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.870392
- Lau, J. D., Kleiber, D., Lawless, S., & Cohen, P. J. (2021). Gender equality in climate policy and practice hindered by assumptions. *Nature Climate Change*, *11*(3), 186-192. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-021-00999-7
- Lawrance, E. L., Thompson, R., Newberry Le Vay, J., Page, L., & Jennings, N. (2022). The impact of climate change on mental health and emotional wellbeing: a narrative review of current evidence, and its implications. *International Review of Psychiatry*, 34(5), 443-498. https://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1080/09540261.2022.2128725
- Leiserowitz, A. (2007). Communicating the risks of global warming: American risk perceptions, affective images, and interpretive communities. *Creating a climate for change: Communicating Climate Change and Facilitating Social Change*, Moser/Dilling (eds).
 44-63.
- Leiserowitz, A., Maibach, E., Roser-Renouf, C., Feinberg, G., & Howe, P. (2013). Global warming's six Americas. Yale University and George Mason University. New Haven, CT: Yale Project on Climate Change.
- Lenoir, J., Hattab, T., & Pierre, G. (2017). Climatic microrefugia under anthropogenic climate change: implications for species redistribution. *Ecography*, 40(2), 253-266. https://doiorg.ezp.twu.edu/10.1111/ecog.02788

- Lertzman, R. (2010). The myth of apathy: Psychoanalytic explorations of environmental degradation. Doctoral thesis, Cardiff School of Social Sciences, Cardiff University, Cardiff, Wales.
- Lewandowsky, S., Oreskes, N., Risbey, J. S., Newell, B. R., & Smithson, M. (2015). Seepage: Climate change denial and its effect on the scientific community. *Global Environmental Change*, 33, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2015.02.013
- Liu, Y., Zhu, P., & Li, D. (2022). Development of mutual empathy through experiential growth groups: A mixed methods case study. *The Journal for Specialists in Group Work*, 47(1), 43-62. https://doi.org/10.1080/01933922.2021.1950880
- Lloréns, H. (2018). Imaging disaster: Puerto Rico through the eye of Hurricane Maria. *Transforming Anthropology*, 26(2), 136-156. https://doi.org/10.1111/traa.12126

Lodge, M., & Taber, C. S. (2013). *The rationalizing voter*. Cambridge University Press.

Lord, J., & Hutchison, P. (1993). The process of empowerment: Implications for theory and practice. *Canadian Journal of Community Mental Health*, *12*, 5-5.

Loy, L. S., & Spence, A. (2020). Reducing, and bridging, the psychological distance of climate change. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 67, 101388. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2020.101388

- Lucas, R.E., 2007. Adaptation and the set-point model of subjective well-being-does happiness change after major life events? *Current Directions in Psychological Science 16*(2), 75–79.
- Luhmann, M., Hofmann, W., Eid, M., Lucas, R.E., (2012). Subjective well-being and adaptation to life events: a meta-analysis. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology 102*, 592–615. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0025948

- Lyubormirsky, S., 2011. Hedonic adaptation to positive and negative experiences. In S. Folkman (Ed.), *Oxford handbook* of *stress, health*, and *coping*. Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp. 200–224. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780195375343.013.0011
- Maas, J., Verheij, R. A., Groenewegen, P. P., De Vries, S., & Spreeuwenberg, P. (2006). Green space, urbanity, and health: How strong is the relation?. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 60(7), 587-592. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/jech.2005.043125
- Maibach, E., Roser-Renouf, C., & Leiserowitz, A. (2009). Global warming's six Americas 2009: An audience segmentation analysis. New Haven, CT: Yale Project on Climate Change. Retrieved from http:// environment.yale.edu/uploads/6Americas2009.pdf
- Maiteny, P. T. (2002). Mind in the gap: Summary of research exploring "inner" influences on pro-sustainability learning and behavior. *Environmental Education Research*, 8, 299 – 306. doi:10.1080/13504620220145447
- Macy, J., & Brown, M. Y. (1998). Coming back to life: Practices to Reconnect Our Lives, Our World (p. 190). Gabriola Island, BC: New Society Publishers.
- Malik, M., Sarwar, S., & Orr, S. (2021). Agile practices and performance: Examining the role of psychological empowerment. *International Journal of Project Management*, 39(1), 10-20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2020.09.002
- Markin, R. D., & Coleman, M. N. (2023). Intersections of gendered racial trauma and childbirth trauma: Clinical interventions for Black women. *Psychotherapy*, 60(1), 27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/pst0000403</u>
- Markus, M., Cai, X., & Sriver, R. (2019). Extreme floods and droughts under future climate scenarios. *Water*, *11*(8), 1720. https://doi.org/10.3390/w11081720

- Marshall, B. K., & Picou, J. S. (2008). Post-normal science, precautionary principle, and worst cases: The challenge of twenty-first-century catastrophes. Sociological Inquiry, 78, 230– 247. doi:10.1111/j.1475-682X .2008.00236.x
- McCright, A. M., & Dunlap, R. E. (2011). Cool dudes: The denial of climate change among conservative white males in the United States. *Global Environmental Change*, 21(4), 1163-1172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2011.06.003
- McMichael, A. J., Woodruff, R. E., & Hales, S. (2006). Climate change and human health: present and future risks. *The Lancet*, 367(9513), 859-869. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68079-3
- Meehl, G. A., & Tebaldi, C. (2004) More intense, more frequent, and longer-lasting heat waves in the 21st century. *Science*, *305*, 994–997. doi:10.1126/science.1098704
- Miles-Novelo, A., & Anderson, C. A. (2019). Climate change and psychology: Effects of rapid global warming on violence and aggression. *Current Climate Change Reports*, 5, 36-46. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40641-019-00121-2
- Moser, S. C. (2007). More bad news: The risk of neglecting emotional responses to climate change information. In S. C. Moser & L. Dilling (Eds.), Creating a climate for change (pp. 64–80). New York, NY: *Cambridge University Press*. doi:10.1017/CBO9780511535871.006
- Muduli, A., & Pandya, G. (2018). Psychological empowerment and workforce agility. *Psychological Studies*, 63(3), 276-285. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12646-018-0456-8
- Nadal, K. L., King, R., Sissoko, D. G., Floyd, N., & Hines, D. (2021). The legacies of systemic and internalized oppression: Experiences of microaggressions, imposter phenomenon,

and stereotype threat on historically marginalized groups. New Ideas in Psychology, 63, 100895. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.newideapsych.2021.100895

- Nartova-Bochaver, S. K., Donat, M., Ucar, G. K., Korneev, A. A., Heidmets, M. E., Kamble, S., & Clayton, S. (2022). The role of environmental identity and individualism/collectivism in predicting climate change denial: Evidence from nine countries. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 84, 101899. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2022.101899</u>
- National Research Council. (2008). Understanding and responding to climate change. Washington, DC: National Academies Press.
- Nicol, A. A., De France, K., & Mayrand Nicol, A. (2022). The relation of climate change denial with benevolent and hostile sexism. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 52(9), 823-836. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1111/jasp.12880</u>
- Nixon, R. (2011). Slow Violence and the Environmentalism of the Poor (pp. 11). *Harvard University Press.*
- Nobel, J. (2007). Eco-anxiety: Something else to worry about. The Philadelphia Inquirer, 9.
- Norgaard, K. M. (2011). Living in denial: Climate change, emotions, and everyday life. *MIT Press.*
- Norris, F. H., Friedman, M. J., & Watson, P. J. (2002). 60,000 disaster victims speak: Part II.
 Summary and implications of the disaster mental health research. *Psychiatry: Interpersonal and Biological Processes*, 65, 240–260. doi:10.1521/psyc.65.3.240.20169
- Norris, F. H., Stevens, S. P., Pfefferbaum, B., Wyche, K. F., & Pfefferbaum, R. L. (2008).
 Community resilience as a metaphor, theory, set of capacities, and strategy for disaster readiness. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, *41*, 127–150.
 doi:10.1007/s10464-007-9156-6

- Ogunbode, C. A., Doran, R., Hanss, D., Ojala, M., Salmela-Aro, K., van den Broek, K. L., ... & Karasu, M. (2022). Climate anxiety, wellbeing and pro-environmental action: Correlates of negative emotional responses to climate change in 32 countries. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 84, 101887. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2022.101887
- Ojala, M. (2022). How do children, adolescents, and young adults relate to climate change? Implications for developmental psychology. *European Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1080/17405629.2022.2108396
- Padhy, S. K., Sarkar, S., Panigrahi, M., & Paul, S. (2015). Mental health effects of climate change. *Indian Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 19(1), 3. doi: 10.4103/0019-5278.156997
- Page, L. A., & Howard, L. M. (2010). The impact of climate change on mental health (but will mental health be discussed at Copenhagen?). *Psychological Medicine*, 40, 177–180. doi:10.1017/S0033291709992169
- Pakmehr, S., Yazdanpanah, M., & Baradaran, M. (2021). Explaining farmers' response to climate change-induced water stress through cognitive theory of stress: An Iranian perspective. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, 23(4), 5776-5793.
- Palinkas, L., & Wong, M. (2020). Global climate change and mental health. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 32, 12-16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2019.06.023
- Palm, R., Bolsen, T., & Kingsland, J. T. (2020). "Don't tell me what to do": Resistance to climate change messages suggesting behavior changes. *Weather, Climate, and Society,* 12(4), 827-835. https://doi.org/10.1175/WCAS-D-19-0141.1
- Panu, P. (2020). Anxiety and the ecological crisis: An analysis of eco-anxiety and climate anxiety. *Sustainability*, 12(19), 7836. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12197836

- Parmesan, C., Morecroft, M. D., & Trisurat, Y. (2022). *Climate change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability* (Doctoral dissertation, GIEC).
- Paudyal, B. R., Chanana, N., Khatri-Chhetri, A., Sherpa, L., Kadariya, I., & Aggarwal, P. (2019).
 Gender integration in climate change and agricultural policies: The case of
 Nepal. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems*, *3*, 66.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fsufs.2019.00066
- Petkanopoulou, K., Rodríguez-Bailón, R., Willis, G. B., & van Kleef, G. A. (2019). Powerless people don't yell but tell: The effects of social power on direct and indirect expression of anger. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 49(3), 533-547.

https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.2521

- Pew Research Center. (2009). Economy, jobs trump all other policy priorities in 2009. Retrieved from http://people-press.org/report/ 485/economy-top-policy-priority
- Pickering, G. J., & Dale, G. (2023). Trait anxiety predicts pro-environmental values and climate change action. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 205, 112101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2023.112101</u>
- Pielke Jr., R., Prins, G., Rayner, S., Sarewitz, D., 2007. Lifting the taboo on adaptation. *Nature* 445, 597–598. https://doi.org/10.1038/445597a
- Pieterse, A. N., Van Knippenberg, D., Schippers, M., & Stam, D. (2010). Transformational and transactional leadership and innovative behavior: The moderating role of psychological empowerment. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *31*(4), 609-623. https://doiorg.ezp.twu.edu/10.1002/job.650
- Pihkala, P. (2022). Eco-anxiety and pastoral care: Theoretical considerations and practical suggestions. *Religions*, *13*(3), 192. https://doi.org/10.3390/rel13030192

Poortinga, W., Spence, A., Whitmarsh, L., Capstick, S., & Pidgeon, N. F. (2011). Uncertain climate: An investigation into public scepticism about anthropogenic climate change. *Global Environmental Change*, 21(3), 1015-1024.

Pörtner, H. O., Roberts, D. C., Adams, H., Adler, C., Aldunce, P., Ali, E., Begum, R. A., Betts, R., Kerr, R. B., Biesbroek, R., Birkmann, J., Bowen, K., Castellanos, E., Cissé, G., Constable, A., Cramer, W., Dodman, D., Eriksen, S. H., Fischlin, Stevens, N. (2022). Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). https://publications.pik-potsdam.de/pubman/item/item_26898

- Presby, J., Wandersman, A., Florin, P., Rich, R., & Chavis, D. (1990). Benefits, costs, incentive management and participation in voluntary organizations: A means to understanding and promoting empowerment. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 18(1), 117-148.
- Prilleltensky, I., Nelson, G., & Peirson, L. (2001). The role of power and control in children's lives: An ecological analysis of pathways toward wellness, resilience and problems. *Journal of Community and Applied Social Psychology*, 11, 143–158. https://doi.org/10.1002/casp.616
- Qi, X., Tong, S., & Hu, W. (2009). Preliminary spatiotemporal analysis of the association between socio-environmental factors and suicide. *Environmental Health*, 8, 46. doi:10.1186/1476-069X-8-46
- Qing C, Guo S, Deng X, Xu D (2021) Farmers' disaster preparedness and quality of life in earthquake-prone areas: the mediating role of risk perception. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction* 59:102252. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2021.102252

- Raleigh, C. (2010). Political marginalization, climate change, and conflict in African Sahel states. *International Studies Review*, 12(1), 69-86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2486.2009.00913.x</u>
- Randall, R. (2009). Loss and climate change: The cost of parallel narratives. *Ecopsychology*, *1*, 118–129. doi:10.1089/eco.2009.0034
- Rashotte, L. S. (2002). Incorporating nonverbal behaviors into affect control theory. *Electronic Journal of Sociology*, *6*(3).
- Reser, J. P. (2010). A psychological perspective on 'thinking globally and acting locally' in the context of climate change. Keynote address presented to the International Congress of Applied Psychology, Melbourne, Australia.
- Reser, J. P., Bradley, G. L., Glendon, A. I., Ellul, M. C., & Callaghan, R. (2012). Public risk perceptions, understandings and responses to climate change in Australia and Great Britain. *Gold Coast, Qld: Griffith Climate Change Response Adaptation Facility*, 298.
- Reser, J.P. & Swim, J.K., (2011). Adapting to and coping with the threat and impacts of climate change. *American Psychologist*. 66, 277–289. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0023412
- Reuveny, R. (2008). Eco-migration and violent conflict: Case studies and public policy implications. *Human Ecology*, *36*, 1–13. doi:10.1007/s10745-007-9142-5
- Riebsame, W. E. (1990). Anthropogenic climate change and a new paradigm of natural resource planning. *The Professional Geographer*, 42(1), 1-12. https://doiorg.ezp.twu.edu/10.1111/j.0033-0124.1990.00001.x

- Ruggerio, C. A. (2021). Sustainability and sustainable development: A review of principles and definitions. *Science of the Total Environment*, 786, 147481. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.147481
- Seaman, E. B. (2016). Climate change on the therapist's couch: how mental health clinicians receive and respond to indirect psychological impacts of climate change in the therapeutic setting. Masters Thesis, Smith College, Northampton, MA. https://scholarworks.smith.edu/theses/1736
- Schermuly, C. C., & Meyer, B. (2016). Good relationships at work: The effects of Leader– Member Exchange and Team–Member Exchange on psychological empowerment, emotional exhaustion, and depression. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *37*(5), 673-691. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2060
- Shonkoff, S. B., Morello-Frosch, R., Pastor, M., & Sadd, J. (2011). The climate gap: environmental health and equity implications of climate change and mitigation policies in California—a review of the literature. *Climatic Change*, 109, 485-503. <u>https://doiorg.ezp.twu.edu/10.1007/s10584-011-0310-7</u>
- Shrider, E. & Creamer, J. (2023) *Poverty in the United States: 2022.* United States Census Bureau. https://www.census.gov/library/publications/2023/demo/p60-280.html
- Siegner, A., & Stapert, N. (2020). Climate change education in the humanities classroom: A case study of the Lowell school curriculum pilot. *Environmental Education Research*, 26(4), 511-531. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1080/13504622.2019.1607258</u>

- Singels, A., Van Den Berg, M., & Van Antwerpen, R. (2005). Climate change and yield decline: An analysis of actual and simulated yield data from the BT1 field experiment. *South African Sugarcane Technologists' Association*, 79, pp. 491-494.
- Singh, A. A., Appling, B., & Trepal, H. (2020). Using the multicultural and social justice counseling competencies to decolonize counseling practice: The important roles of theory, power, and action. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 98(3), 261-271. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1002/jcad.12321</u>
- Shah, T. A., Khattak, M. N., Zolin, R., & Shah, S. Z. A. (2019). Psychological empowerment and employee attitudinal outcomes: The pivotal role of psychological capital. *Management Research Review*, 42(7), 797-817. https://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-05-2018-0194
- Sharry, J. (2019). How to turn climate change denial into acceptance and action. The Irish Times. https://www.irishtimes.com/life-and-style/health-family/parenting/how-to-turn-climatechange-denial-into-acceptance-and-action-1.4058069
- Spence, A., Poortinga, W., & Pidgeon, N. (2012). The psychological distance of climate change. *Risk Analysis: An International Journal*, 32(6), 957-972.
- Spreitzer, G. M. (1995). Psychological empowerment in the workplace: Dimensions, measurement, and validation. *Academy of Management Journal*, 38(5), 1442-1465. https://doi.org/10.5465/256865
- Stokols, D., Misra, S., Runnerstrom, M. G., & Hipp, J. A. (2009). Psychology in an age of ecological crisis: From personal angst to collective action. *American Psychologist*, 64, 181–193. doi:10.1037/a0014717

Smith, C. W., & Rule, C. J. (2016). Behavioral change and patient empowerment. In R. E. Rakel
& D. Rakel, *Textbook of Family Medicine E-Book*, 9, pp. 102-109. Elsevier Health
Sciences.

Swim, J. K., Stern, P. C., Doherty, T. J., Clayton, S., Reser, J. P., Weber, E. U., & Howard, G. S. (2011). Psychology's contributions to understanding and addressing global climate change. *American Psychologist*, 66(4), 241. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0023220

- Sundström, J. F., Albihn, A., Boqvist, S., Ljungvall, K., Marstorp, H., Martiin, C., & Magnusson, U. (2014). Future threats to agricultural food production posed by environmental degradation, climate change, and animal and plant diseases–a risk analysis in three economic and climate settings. *Food Security*, 6, 201-215. https://doiorg.ezp.twu.edu/10.1007/s12571-014-0331-y
- Symon, C. (Ed.). (2005). Arctic Climate Impact Assessment-Scientific Report. Cambridge University Press.
- Tai, A. P., Martin, M. V., & Heald, C. L. (2014). Threat to future global food security from climate change and ozone air pollution. *Nature Climate Change*, 4(9), 817-821.
- Tam, K. P., Leung, A. K. Y., & Clayton, S. (2021). Research on climate change in social psychology publications: A systematic review. *Asian Journal of Social Psychology*, 24(2), 117-143. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajsp.12477
- Tam, K. P., & Milfont, T. L. (2020). Towards cross-cultural environmental psychology: A stateof-the-art review and recommendations. Journal of Environmental Psychology, 71, 101474. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2020.101474

Thomas, K., Hardy, R. D., Lazrus, H., Mendez, M., Orlove, B., Rivera-Collazo, I., & Winthrop,
R. (2019). Explaining differential vulnerability to climate change: A social science
review. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change, 10(2), e565.
https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.565

Ting, D., & Carter, J. H. (1992). Behavioral change through empowerment: Prevention of AIDS. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 84(3), 225.

- Torp, S., Eklund, L., & Thorpenberg, S. (2011). Research on workplace health promotion in the Nordic countries: a literature review, 1986–2008. *Global Health Promotion*, 18(3), 15-22. https://doi.org/10.1177/1757975911412401
- Turner, W. R., Bradley, B. A., Estes, L. D., Hole, D. G., Oppenheimer, M., & Wilcove, D. S. (2010). Climate change: Helping nature survive the human response. *Conservation Letters*, *3*(5), 304-312. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-263X.2010.00128.x
- Tyson, A., Funk, C., & Kennedy, B. (2023). What the data says about Americans' views of climate change. *Pew Research Center*. <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/short-</u> <u>reads/2023/08/09/what-the-data-says-about-americans-views-of-climate-</u> <u>change/#:~:text=Nearly%20eight%2Din%2Dten%20Democrats,identical%20to%2010%</u> <u>20years%20ago</u>
- Uribe, K., & Chapman-Ludwig, A. (2023). Environmental Activism: Pro-Environmental Behavior, Consumerism, and Environmental Justice. *DU Undergraduate Research Journal Archive*, 4(1), 2.
- Van der Linden, S., Leiserowitz, A., Rosenthal, S., & Maibach, E. (2017). Inoculating the public against misinformation about climate change. *Global Challenges*, 1(2), https://doi.org/10.1002/gch2.201600008

- Van Valkengoed, A. M., & Steg, L. (2019). Meta-analyses of factors motivating climate change adaptation behaviour. *Nature Climate Change*, 9(2), 158–163. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-018-0371-y
- Vaillant, G. E. (2000). Adaptive mental mechanisms: Their role in a positive psychology. *American Psychologist*, 55(1), 89. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.89
- Vernberg, E. M., Steinberg, A. M., Jacobs, A. K., Brymer, M. J., Watson, P. J., Osofsky, J. D.,
 Ruzek, J. I. (2008). Innovations in disaster mental health: Psychological first aid. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice, 39*, 381–388. doi:10.1037/a0012663
- Versey, H. S. (2021). Missing pieces in the discussion on climate change and risk: Intersectionality and compounded vulnerability. *Policy Insights from the Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 8(1), 67-75. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1177/2372732220982628</u>
- Voelkel, J. G., Chu, J., Stagnaro, M., Mernyk, J., Redekopp, C., Pink, S., & Willer, R. (2021). Interventions reducing affective polarization do not improve anti-democratic attitudes. *Preprint at OSF*. https://doi.org/10.31219/osf. io/7evmp.
- Wandersman, A. H., & Hallman, W. K. (1993). Are people acting irrationally? Understanding public concerns about environmental threats. *American Psychologist*, 48, 681–686. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.48 .6.681

Washington, H. (2013). Climate change denial: Heads in the sand. Routledge.

Watson-Singleton, N. N., Lewis, J. A., & Dworkin, E. R. (2023). Toward a socially just diversity science: Using intersectional mixed methods research to center multiply marginalized Black, Indigenous, and People of Color (BIPOC). Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology, 29(1), 34–42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/cdp0000477</u>

- Weber, E. U. (2006). Experienced-based and description-based perceptions of long-term risk:
 Why global warming does not scare us (yet). *Climatic Change*, 77, 103–120.
 doi:10.1007/s10584-006-9060-3
- Weber, E. U., & Stern, P. C. (2011). Public understanding of climate change in the United States. *American Psychologist*, 66(4), 315. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0023253
- Westcott, J. B., & Grimes, T. O. (2023). Applications of Relational-Cultural Theory for Social Justice in Mental Health Counseling. *Journal of Mental Health Counseling*, 45(1), 1-19. https://doi.org/10.17744/mehc.45.1.01
- Williams, M. N., & Jaftha, B. A. (2020). Perceptions of powerlessness are negatively associated with taking action on climate change: A preregistered replication. *Ecopsychology*, 12(4), 257-266. https://doi.org/10.1089/eco.2020.0012
- Williams, T., Walker, T., & Wyatt, W. (2022). Conceptualizing racism through a systemic trauma lens: Impacts on Black college students. *Journal of Psychotherapy Integration*, 32(1), 49-63. https://doi.org/10.1037/int0000206
- Wilson, K. M. (2002). Forecasting the future: How television weathercasters—Attitudes and beliefs about climate change affect their cognitive knowledge on the science. *Science Communication*, 24(2), 246-268. https://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1177/107554702237849
- Winsemius, H. C., Jongman, B., Veldkamp, T. I., Hallegatte, S., Bangalore, M., & Ward, P. J. (2018). Disaster risk, climate change, and poverty: assessing the global exposure of poor people to floods and droughts. *Environment and Development Economics*, 23(3), 328-348. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355770X17000444

- Wong-Parodi, G., & Feygina, I. (2020). Understanding and countering the motivated roots of climate change denial. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, 42, 60-64. https://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1016/j.cosust.2019.11.008
- Wouterse, F. (2017). Empowerment, climate change adaptation, and agricultural production: evidence from Niger. *Climatic Change*, 145(3-4), 367-382. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-017-2096-8
- Woroniecki, S. (2020). Confronting the ecology of crisis: The interlinked roles of ecosystembased adaptation and empowerment (Doctoral dissertation, Lund University).
- Wu, J., Snell, G., & Samji, H. (2020). Climate anxiety in young people: A call to action. *The Lancet Planetary Health*, 4(10), e435-e436. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2542-5196(20)30223-0
- Yardley, W. (2007). Victim of climate change, a town seeks a lifeline. *New York Times*. http://www.nytimes.com/2007/05/27/us/27newtok.html

Younger, M., Morrow-Almeida, H. R., Vindigni, S. M., & Dannenberg, A. L. (2008). The built environment, climate change, and health: opportunities for co-benefits. *American Journal* of Preventive Medicine, 35(5), 517-526. https://doiorg.ezp.twu.edu/10.1016/j.amepre.2008.08.017

Zboja, J. J., Jackson, R. W., & Grimes-Rose, M. (2020). An expectancy theory perspective of volunteerism: the roles of powerlessness, attitude toward charitable organizations, and attitude toward helping others. *International Review on Public and Nonprofit Marketing*, 17, 493-507. https://doi-org.ezp.twu.edu/10.1007/s12208-020-00260-5 Zhou, J. (2016). Boomerangs versus javelins: How polarization constrains communication on climate change. *Environmental Politics*, 25(5), 788-811. https://doi.org/10.1080/09644016.2016.1166602

APPENDIX A

RECRUITMENT FLYER



Use this QR code to access our survey for research participation!

TELL US yor thoughts about THE CLIMATE

YOUR PARTICIPATION IN THIS RESEARCH STUDY IS COMPLETELY VOLUNTARY. THERE IS A POTENTIAL RISK OF LOSS OF CONFIDENTIALITY IN ALL EMAIL, DOW NLOADING, ELECTRONIC MEETINGS AND INTERNET TRANSACTIONS.

Are you a TWU student needing credit? Enter your SONA ID anonymously at the end of the survey!

For questions or concerns about this study please contact:

Jamie Campos, B.S. Principal Investigator jcampos14@twu.edu (940) 898 230 3

APPENDIX B

STUDY DISCLOSURE

TEXAS WOMAN'S UNIVERSITY

Measuring Attitudes About Climate Change Action

Primary Investigator: Jamie Campos; jcampos14@twu.edu; 940-898-2303 Faculty Advisor: Claudia Porras Pyland, PhD.; cporras@twu.edu; 940-898-2312 Key Information: This study is being conducted for research purposes to evaluate the influence of media messaging on action responses to global climate change. The time to complete participation in this study is approximately 20 minutes. Participation in this study is completely voluntary. The risks and benefits of the study are discussed in the following sections.

Study Description: In this study, you will watch a 2-minute video and complete an online questionnaire following the viewing of the film presented. Each response will record how often the statement applies to you. Additionally, you will be asked to provide some basic demographic information. The time to complete this study is estimated to take about 20 minutes. Your participation is completely voluntary, and you may withdraw at any time.

Potential risks and Benefits: Some potential risks of the study may include breaches in confidentiality and being exposed to footage that may elicit an upsetting response. There is potential for confidentiality to be broken in all email communications, electronic meetings,

downloading, and online transactions. Identifiable personal information will not be used, and confidentiality will be maintained to the fullest extent possible. Your participation in this study will provide you with SONA credit as a student in a psychology course.

The researchers will diligently work to ensure that potential risks are minimized as much as possible. You should let the investigator know immediately if there is a problem with participation, and it will be addressed accordingly. Texas Woman's University does not provide medical aid or financial compensation for any injuries incurred by your participation in this study. If you have any further questions about participating in this study, you may contact the researcher or their faculty advisor (see contact information above). If you have any additional questions about your rights as a participant in this study or need any additional information about the management of this study, you can contact the Texas Woman's University Office of Research and Sponsored Programs at 940-898-3378 or by email at IRB@twu.edu.

By proceeding with this survey, you are endorsing that you are 18 years of age or older and have read and agree with the terms of this informed consent form.

Resources for mental health concerns:

Good Grief Network

https://www.goodgriefnetwork.org/

TWU CAPS https://twu.edu/counseling

APPENDIX C

DEMOGRAPHIC FORM

- **Demographic Form**
- Age:
 <u>Gender:</u>

- Gender: Man Woman Non-binary Transgender Gender non-conforming

- Gender non-comorning
 Two-Spirit
 Agender
 Other, please describe:
 Prefer not to say
- 3. Race/Ethnicity: Black or African American

 - ||White ||White ||American Indian/Alaska Native ||Asian American or other Pacific Islander ||Hispanic or Latiné

 - Biracial Multiracial
- Other, please describe:
 Prefer not to say
 4. What country have you spent the majority of your life in?
- 5. Highest level of education
 - Highschool or GED
 - Some college Associate degree

 - Trade or technical degree Bachelor's degree
- □Bacnelor's degree
 Master's degree
 □PhD or equivalent
 6. Household income per year
 □Less than \$13,000
 □\$13,000 \$20,000

 - S13,000-\$30,000

 \$30,000-\$55,000

 \$55,000-\$70,000

 \$70,000-\$95,000

 - \$100,000+
- 7. How many dependents are in your household?
 - □0 □1-2 □3-4 □5-6

 - 6 or more

- 8. Employment status:
 - Unemployed or under-employed
 - Part-time
 - Full-time
 - Student
- 9. How would you rate your level of social support?
 - □Poor □Fair

 - Good
 - Excellent
- 10. Do you have children?

☐Yes ☐No

- 11. Do you want children?
- ☐Ýes ☐No
- 12. Have you experienced food insecurity? Yes
 - No
- 13. Have you experienced housing insecurity?
 - Yes

No

- 14. Immigration status
 - U.S. citizen
 - U.S. resident
 - Immigrant

 - Undocumented
 - Prefer not to say
- 15. Have you ever lost your home, property, or vehicle to a natural disaster or extreme weather event?
 - Yes
 - No
- 16. Have you or someone you love been physically or emotionally harmed by a natural disaster or extreme weather event?
 - Yes
 - No
- 17. Have you ever had to relocate as a result of a natural disaster or extreme weather event?
 - Yes
 - No
- 18. What is your political affiliation

Republican

Democrat
Libertarian
Independent
Apolitical

APPENDIX D

STIMULI

Video #1- Empowerment Condition: https://vimeo.com/manage/videos/858674706

Video #2- Powerlessness Condition: https://vimeo.com/manage/videos/858669885

APPENDIX E

CLIMATE CHANGE DENIAL SCALE

Please rate the following items as either true or false:

- 1. The effects of global warming will never happen.
- 2. Recent temperature increases are not primarily due to human activities.
- 3. There is no scientific consensus that global warming is occurring.
- 4. The seriousness of global warming is generally exaggerated in the media.
- 5. I do not worry about global warming at all.

APPENDIX F

CLIMATE ANXIETY SCALE

Please rate the following items on a 5-point Likert scale, where 1= never, 2= rarely, 3= sometimes, 4= often, and 5= almost always.

- 1. Thinking about climate change makes it difficult to concentrate.
- 2. Thinking about climate change makes it difficult for me to sleep.
- 3. I have nightmares about climate change.
- 4. I find myself crying because of climate change.
- 5. I think, "why can't I handle climate change better?"
- 6. I go away by myself and think about why I feel this way about climate change.
- 7. I write down my thoughts about climate change and analyze them.
- 8. I think, "why do I react to climate change this way?"
- 9. My concerns about climate change make it difficult to have fun with family or friends.
- 10. I have problems balancing my concerns about sustainability with the needs of my family.
- 11. My concerns about climate change interfere with my ability to get work or school assignments done.
- 12. My concerns about climate change undermine my ability to work to my potential.
- 13. My friends say I think about climate change too much.
- 14. I have been directly affected by climate change.
- 15. I know someone who has been directly affected by climate change.
- 16. I have noticed a change in a place that is important to me due to climate change.
- 17. I wish I behaved more sustainably.
- 18. I recycle.

- 19. I turn off lights.
- 20. I try to reduce my behaviors that contribute to climate change.
- 21. I feel guilty if I waste energy.
- 22. I believe I can do something to help address the problem of climate change.

APPENDIX G

PSYCHOLOGICAL ADAPTATION SCALE

Please rate the following items on a 5-point Likert scale where 1= never, 2=

rarely, 3= sometimes, 4= often, and 5= almost always.

- 1. I have changed the way I think about the seriousness of environmental problems because of climate change.
- 2. I have seriously thought about alternative places to live because of the increasingly evident impacts of climate change
- 3. I am increasingly aware of how my daily activities might be affecting the natural environment
- 4. In recent years I have thought more about what I and my family might do to reduce our carbon footprint
- 5. When considering the challenges of climate change it is important to look for things that I can address and change in my everyday life
- 6. Climate change has forced me to change the way I think about and view how we live in and use our natural environment
- 7. I tend to think differently these days about what is acceptable and sustainable and not acceptable with respect to consumer products and packaging, and consumption in general